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Brief Overview
The 14 hectare Royal Tasmanian Botanical Gardens (RTBG) was established in 1818 on the current 
site. It is the only botanic gardens in Tasmania providing an important botanical, horticultural, 
educational, cultural and interpretation resource to the State. It is of national significance in  
terms of its cultural landscape and heritage values. 

The RTBG is located in a culturally significant precinct, comprising the Gardens, Government 
House, the Queens Domain and the former Beaumaris Zoo site (home of the last living Tasmanian 
Tiger in the 1930s). The RTBG is an important Aboriginal and European cultural heritage site. 

As one of Australia’s premier cool climate gardens with a plant collection in excess of 4,000 species, 
the RTBG strives to provide a range of experiences that will enhance the community’s awareness and 
appreciation of plants and the Gardens’ cultural heritage. The RTBG is distinguished by a number 
of unique collections and houses one of the largest collections of conifers in the southern hemisphere. 

The Tasmanian native collection is significant due to the unique nature of Tasmania’s flora with 
around 30% of species being endemic to the State. Complementing this is the Tasmanian Seed 
Conservation Centre (TSCC), which since it was established in 2005 has become the cornerstone 
of the Botanical Gardens conservation strategy currently holding 1,630 collections of 1064 taxa 
and 38 million viable seeds.  

The RTBG is home to the world’s only Subantarctic Plant House which holds collections 
from Macquarie Island and links the RTBG with the Antarctic community. 
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Dear Minister,

The Board of the Royal Tasmanian Botanical Gardens 
incorporated by the Botanical Gardens Act 2002, has the 
pleasure in submitting the Royal Tasmanian Botanical 
Gardens Annual Report for the year ending 30th June 2015 
in accordance with Division 3.17.1 of that Act.

Established in 1818 the Royal Tasmanian Botanical Gardens 

(RTBG) is in many ways a concentrated example of the 

Tasmanian experience.  The Gardens has a significant 

colonial and convict history, including important built 

heritage and some of Tasmania’s earliest tree plantings. 

This is juxtaposed with more contemporary displays like the 

unique Subantarctic Plant House, plantings of Tasmanian 

flora and high quality horticultural displays like the Friends 

Mixed Border and the Lily Pond plantings.

The RTBG is an important part of life in Tasmania for locals and visitors alike, demonstrated by the attendance of 

412,569 visitors to the Gardens over the 2014 /2015 financial year.

As you will see from the Annual Report the RTBG’s staff have worked hard to maintain the Botanical Gardens 

to the international standards everyone expects. The State is fortunate to have such dedicated people to care 

for this valued State asset.  In addition to this ongoing work they have continued to make progress against the 

goals outlined in the Strategic Master Plan 2009 including: completing an important planning document to assist 

with the management of the living collections; collecting conservation sized collections of Tasmania’s endemic 

conifers; convening and organising the Australasian Plant Conservation Conference in Hobart for the Australian 

Network for Plant Conservation (ANPC), and assisting with Department of Primary Industries Water and the 

Environment’s (DPIPWE) efforts to manage the potential threat of Myrtle Rust amongst other activities.

We thank the Minister and the Government for their support of the RTBG through an Essential Infrastructure 

Funding grant for the 2014 to 2016 financial period.  This funding has enabled the completion of critical work on 

the Garden’s Arthur Wall (c.1829) and Superintendent’s Cottage (c.1829) over this financial year and the early 

planning for major works to the Eardley - Wilmot Wall (c.1846) in the 2015 / 2016 financial year.

In submitting this report we would also like to offer our thanks to everyone else who has provided support and 

contributed towards the Royal Tasmanian Botanical Gardens’ achievements including the Secretary and staff 

of the Department of Primary Industries Water and the Environment, and the staff, the Friends of the Royal 

Botanical Gardens and our many volunteers. Their combined efforts and ongoing contributions are vital to the 

development and success of the Gardens.

Yours Sincerely,

Damian Bugg  

Chairman

Letter to the Minister
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On behalf of the Board of the Royal 
Tasmanian Botanical Gardens it is my 
pleasure to present the Annual Report for 
2014 – 2015.

The Royal Tasmanian Botanical Gardens 

is a significant State asset that requires 

professional and careful management.  During 

the year more than 412,000 people visited 

the Gardens, a clear demonstration of the 

important role that the Gardens plays in the 

lives of Tasmanians and visitors to the State. 

The excellent work of the management and 

staff of the Gardens in caring for the Gardens, 

maintaining collections, the infrastructure 

of the Gardens and meeting the broader 

community responsibilities which attach 

to a Botanical Gardens are detailed in this 

Report. On behalf of the Board I wish to 

record our appreciation for that work and 

their continuing commitment to achieving 

the goals of the Strategic Master Plan in an 

economically challenging environment.

The work outlined in the body of the 

report provides a comprehensive picture 

of the diverse and at times complex suite 

of activities undertaken at the Gardens by 

the staff, volunteers and supporters of the 

Gardens. Some of those activities, particularly 

the maintenance of Australia’s second oldest 

Botanical Garden, provide the community 

with far more than just a public park. The 

complex business model which is now 

required to ensure that we can supplement 

any funding shortfall with sustainable 

commercial activity within the statutory 

mandate of the Board is an ongoing challenge. 

I have commented previously on our 

endeavours to achieve better income streams 

from commercial activities undertaken at 

the Gardens. During the year we reviewed 

the process we were following to engage a 

caterer to undertake the provision of food 

and beverage services at the Gardens. As 

a consequence of that review we engaged 

agents to assist us in the task of finding an 

operator and at the time of writing this brief 

overview an operator has been selected and 

will soon reopen the restaurant. The loss 

of the restaurant during the latter half of 

the year was regrettable, but long overdue 

renovations to the dining room and the 

kitchen have been undertaken and I take this 

opportunity to thank our community of loyal 

supporters for their ongoing attendance and 

encouragement during the absence of full 

restaurant services from the Gardens.

The Governor, The Honourable Professor 

Kate Warner, has accepted the invitation 

of the Board to become the Patron of the 

Gardens. This pleasing development will 

ensure that the historical links between 

Government House and the Gardens, one of 

only 6 ‘Royal’ Botanical Gardens in the world, 

are enhanced as we near our bicentenary in 

2018.  I record the Board’s appreciation for 

the Governor’s generous response to our 

invitation. In the coming year planning for a 

major bicentenary project will be undertaken.  

The management of the living collections 

of the Gardens, ensuring the preservation 

of endemic plants and assistance towards 

protecting the State from disease threats 

are, in my view, important duties which are 

core to the work of the Gardens. I note the 

excellent work undertaken by staff during the 

year, under the leadership of Mark Fountain, 

particularly in completing the management 

plan for the living collections.

The Seed Conservation Centre’s 

collaboration with staff from the Department 

(DPIPWE) to take advantage of a significant 

mass flowering and seeding event to collect 

conservation sized samples of Tasmania’s 

endemic conifers and the RTBG’s assistance 

with the efforts of the Department to manage 

the potential threat of Myrtle Rust are actions 

highlighted in more detail in this report but I 

draw attention to them here to demonstrate 

the diversity of responsibility which the 

Gardens carries.

The costs of running the Gardens will 

continue to rise, particularly the provision 

of services and supplies. This year we were 

fortunate to receive the unsolicited donation 

of an installation of $62,000 worth of solar 

panelling  from Mr Robert Rockefeller 

through his company Nekon Pty Ltd to 

defray the cost of our use of electricity. This 

significant donation will assist in not only 

defraying the cost of electricity for us, but 

also provide us with an opportunity to 

demonstrate the benefits of renewable 

energy technology. I thank Mr Rockefeller for 

his generosity and offer of ongoing support to 

the Gardens.

Also during the year we were able to 

complete much needed maintenance and 

repairs to important Gardens infrastructure 

through the injection of an additional budget 

allocation. The remedial works undertaken 

to the heritage Arthur Wall and the 

Superintendent’s Cottage were completed 

without major disruption to the Gardens 

visitors and staff. 

The Gardens continues to be a centre 

for a number of important events on the 

Tasmanian calendar. Many of these are 

covered in the report, but the Spring Festival 

and the running of the Australasian Plant 

Conservation Conference are worthy of 

special mention.

During the greater part of the year the 

leadership of our management team at the 

Gardens was undertaken by Acting Director, 

Robert Cockerell.  Robert left his substantive 

role in the Department to undertake the role 

at a time when we were extremely busy and 

we were fortunate to have the benefit of 

Robert’s experience, enthusiasm and energy 

during the year. I thank Robert and wish him 

well in his new role with the Department. 

The Board is responsible for the oversight 

of the management of the Gardens and 

as we progressively review the activities 

undertaken at the Gardens the workload of 

the Board has increased. I wish to thank all 

members of the Board for their hard work 

during the year but particularly I wish to 

thank a long serving Board member, Mrs. 

Nicky McKibben, who retired from the Board 

this year. Nicky’s experience and commitment 

to the Gardens were invaluable and the extra 

effort she made to ensure that we managed 

was significant.

Finally I wish to record our appreciation 

to the Minister, the Honourable Matthew 

Groom, MHA, for his ongoing support and 

interest in the wellbeing of the Gardens. 

Damian Bugg  

Chairman

From the Chairman
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It was my pleasure to be asked to act as the 

Director of our Royal Tasmanian Botanical 

Gardens (RTBG) during a period of change 

for the Gardens and to assist in determining 

the resource and skills base for the future 

recognising that ongoing Government funds 

available to the Gardens were reduced in 

the 2014-15 State budget. My 12 month 

tenure in the Gardens commenced in mid-

September 2014 and from the time I started I 

faced many challenges.

It was a year of reviewing the Gardens 

business and educational activities, 

infrastructure, heritage and botanical assets 

and its future equipment needs. At the same 

time it was important to continue normal 

operations such as its planting of its display 

beds over the seasons; alternating the 

magnificent displays in the conservatory; 

and tending the growing and maintenance of 

plants in the nursery and research complex, 

whether they be for future plantings 

or displays or for the conservation of 

threatened species.

I liken the Director’s role to running a small 

to medium size business enterprise with its 

diverse activities ranging across the provision 

of restaurant, café and kiosk services; running 

a botanical retail shop; providing classrooms 

for certificate level courses in Horticulture; 

running plant sales including the annual 

heirloom tomato sales in Spring; running 

festivals including the Spring Community 

Festival; having theatrical groups presenting 

entertaining plays for both school groups and 

the general public; having a good sense of and 

promoting the history of the Gardens, which 

is in its 197th year of its existence; greeting 

various community leaders whether they be 

international, national or local as the Gardens 

provides a wonderful backdrop for meetings 

and interviews; collaborating with the 

Garden’s 500 volunteers spread over various 

interest groups; keep a hard working Board 

of Management meaningfully informed; 

ensure that sufficient revenue above the 

Government’s annual funding contribution is 

earned and together with donations they are 

regularly banked and make sure that the many 

varied bills are paid on time.

The aforementioned is only a snapshot of 

what occurs at the Gardens and the work of 

the RTBG’s Horticulture, Estate, Learning 

and Community Engagement, Marketing and 

Events, Tasmanian Seed Conservation Centre, 

Botanical Resources, Business and Visitors 

Services, Operations and Management teams 

are covered in detail within this annual report.

Particular highlights for me over an eventful 

and exciting year were:

Installation of 161 Solar panels on four 

buildings at a net cost of $62,000, which 

will save the Gardens an estimated $15,000 

p.a. on its annual power bill. The project was 

totally funded and managed as a donation by 

Nekon Pty Ltd;

Progression of an Expression of Interest to 

market in June 2015 with the real estate 

consultancy firm Knight Frank for a private 

operator for the RTBG’s restaurant, café and 

kiosk (with a contract subsequently being 

entered into with the Hobart Function and 

Convention Centre);

Hosting of the Dark MOFO exhibit 

“Giidanyba” over 10 nights in June 2015 with 

an attendance of approximately 7,000 (with 

3,500 attending on the last three nights). It 

was Tyrone Sheather’s of the Gumbaynggirr 

people (NSW) first showing of his seven 

sculptures, which attracted media and 

television interest as the Festival progressed;

Acknowledgement of the technical skills 

and knowledge plus the willingness of our 

horticulture and botanical staff to support 

Biosecurity Tasmania in its response to the 

discovery of Myrtle Rust in the North-West of 

Tasmania in February 2015;

Completion of Heritage maintenance works 

on the Arthur Wall (c 1829) with brick 

replacement, repointing and recapping and 

the Superintendent’s Cottage (c1829) with 

the removal of concrete paths and replacing 

them with more functional and aesthetic 

pavers and screenings. These much needed 

maintenance works were funded via the 

Government’s election commitment funding;

Collection of additional historical photos and 

information on the Gardens, which will add 

to the existing interpretation of its history 

and layout as well as inform its Bicentenary 

celebrations in 2018; and

Nine field trips taken by RTBG staff and 

volunteers and Department of Primary 

Industries, Parks, Water and Environment 

(DPIPWE) staff to capitalise on a mass fruiting 

and seeding season for four Tasmanian 

endemic conifers – Athrotaxis cupressoides 

(Pencil Pine), Athrotaxis selaginoides (King 

Billy Pine), Diselma archeri (Chestnut Pine) 

and Pherosphaera hookeriana (Drooping 

Pine). The nine field trips covered 10 

locations with 26 separate collections, which 

required processing by the Tasmanian Seed 

Conservation volunteers and has resulted 

in higher seed volumes for the Tasmanian 

Seed Conservation Centre than previous 

collections of the same species.

I must acknowledge the dedication and work 

of the RTBG’s staff, which is supported by 

the efforts of the Friends of the Gardens 

and the many volunteers who work for other 

specific volunteer programs such as the Seed 

Bank, Orchid Conservation program, Visitor 

Services, various growing groups and Tour 

Guides. I must acknowledge the significant 

and important financial contribution by 

the Friends of the Gardens in funding the 

Gardens new Toro utility vehicle to be used as 

a “workhorse” for gardening operations.

It has been a challenging year and I must 

thank the RTBG staff for the support they 

gave me and I acknowledge the support of 

Damian Bugg as Chairman of the Board, John 

Whittington as Secretary DPIPWE, the Board 

members and my DPIPWE colleagues. I also 

should acknowledge the support provided 

to me and the Gardens in general by many 

staff from across DPIPWE. I must also 

acknowledge the previous Acting Director, 

Mark Fountain, who provided wonderful 

support and guidance based on his long 

experience in the Gardens.

It is important to recognize the support of 

the Minister for Environment, Parks and 

Heritage, Matthew Groom. The Minister 

and his advisors took an active interest in the 

various aspects of the Gardens and it was a 

very satisfying experience to take one of his 

advisors (Simon Wilcox) around the Gardens 

to witness first-hand the results of works and 

activities that have taken place over the year.

Finally, I regard my assignment at the 

Gardens for a 12 month period as a privilege 

to be able to contribute to not only its “here 

and now”, but also its future. It is an asset 

that the community values and I can report 

first-hand that all contributors, whether they 

be the Board, staff, volunteers, suppliers, 

contractors, consultants, partners, thespians, 

etc., contribute with a view to ensuring its 

ongoing success, vitality and vibrancy so that 

it stays a part of Hobart and Tasmania forever.

Robert Cockerell 

Acting Director

Acting Director’s Report
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The Vision of the RTBG is to create and 
maintain an exceptional garden that 
enriches Tasmania’s social and cultural 
life, educates the community about the 
importance of plants and contributes to 
the conservation of the flora of Tasmania 
and the world.

The Vision

• Sets aspirational aims for the 

reputation of excellence within the 

international arena;

• Provides a focus on Tasmania as 

the locus for the operations and 

the identity of the Gardens (i.e. is 

sense of place but also as a focus for 

collections); and

• Specifies that the Gardens contribute 

to flora conservation initiatives.

RTBG Mission

The transformation of vision into 

reality is an active process in which the 

organisation’s mission is a central guiding 

force, therefore, in common with other 

botanical gardens, the RTBG will:

• Act as an ex situ repository for species 

of conservation significance and 

participate in other conservation 

programs aimed at preserving bio-

diversity in the world; and

• Incorporate plants of an economic 

value to the community.

In achieving its mission, the RTBG will 

create and maintain core/priority plant 

collections based on Tasmania’s flora and 

associated cool climate flora from the 

southern hemisphere.

In respect to its history, the RTBG 

will maintain:

• The Gardens in a manner that 

recognises and interprets the layered 

history of the site from Aboriginal 

times through to the present;

• Identified heritage collections of 

plants that are of State, national and 

international significance for their 

historic heritage values; and

• The place in a manner that respects 

its important landscape and sense of 

place values.

The mission reiterates the aspiration to 

excellence, identifies the importance of 

the Gardens to the Tasmanian community, 

provides focus on the experience of the 

place through education, emphasises the 

role of the RTBG in conservation and 

identifies the core values that underpin 

the place as Tasmania’s botanic garden 

i.e. Tasmanian endemic flora and 

associated cool climate plants from the 

southern hemisphere and the heritage 

values of the site. 

RTBG Organisational Values

In achieving its vision and mission, 

the RTBG is committed to a range of 

values that will guide its operation. 

These values include:

• Sustainability;

• Pursuit of excellence;

• Fair dealing in commercial and 

community service;

• Social and environmental 

consciousness;

• Scientific inquiry and integrity;

• Public accessibility and 

responsiveness;

• Staff involvement in planning and 

programs;

• Recognition of, and assistance for, 

friends, volunteers and supporters;

• Administrative efficiency and 

accountability; and

• Respect and recognition for 

employees and all other stakeholders.

Vision, Mission and Values
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RTBG Management Goals

Goal 1
To sustainably manage the core values of 
the RTBG as Tasmania’s botanical garden.

This goal addresses the definition of the 

RTBG as a ‘Tasmanian Botanical Garden’ 

and recognises the significant values 

embodied in the Gardens and that these 

values must be managed in a sustainable 

manner if the RTBG is to be considered 

successful.  

This goal also addresses a principle 

requirement to maintain the integrity of 

the RTBG as a true botanical garden 

through appropriate curation of living 

collections, involvement in the conservation 

of the world’s flora and the conduct of 

targeted research.

Goal 2
To promote and manage the Gardens to 
ensure its users have the opportunity to 
attain a quality experience of the place 
and its values.

This goal addresses the use value of the 

Garden and the benefits to be derived 

from the successful management of the 

RTBG as an education and training centre, a 

community asset and a tourism destination.

The management of the visitor experience 

is directly related to people’s expectations 

for the Gardens as a destination for daily 

life and/or for tourism.

Goal 3
To ensure there is sufficient capacity 
to sustainably manage the RTBG.

This goal addresses the core operational 

activities of the Gardens and recognises 

that the RTBG has a responsibility to 

achieve a consistent and integrated 

approach to the management of the 

Gardens and that to achieve this the RTBG 

must have the legislative power, 

the organisational and procedural 

capacities and the funding necessary 

to implement, monitor and evaluate the 

strategies set out in the SMP.

The principle goals have been formulated to describe the outcomes that the RTBG is trying to achieve in pursuit of its vision and mission and 
through the application of the above values to its operations whilst remaining cognizant of its capacity to fund its activities. These goals in turn 
suggest a range of more specific strategies for their achievement that are included later in this document.  The RTBG’s goals are:
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Board Members 
Mr Damian Bugg Dr John Whittington Mr Scott Gadd                                         
Mr Roger Viney      Mr Douglas Davey Ms Nicky McKibben (until 31/12/14)   

In accordance with the Botanical Gardens Act 2002, the RTBG Board comprises seven 
members appointed by the Minister, one of which is the Secretary of the Department of 
Primary Industries, Parks, Water and the Environment.

The Board is responsible for the management of the RTBG in accordance with its Strategic 
Master Plan and Business Operational Plan.  The overarching aim of the Board is to balance 
the recreational, educational and tourism needs of the government and general public with the 
need to conserve and enhance the Gardens and undertake research into, and preservation of, 
its botanical, horticultural, biological and cultural interests.

RTBG Annual Report 201510



Governance

The RTBG is a State government 

statutory organisation, governed by 

the Botanical Gardens Act 2002 and 

administered by the Department of 

Primary Industries, Parks, Water and 

the Environment (DPIPWE).  A Board 

of seven members, appointed by the 

Minister, manages the RTBG under the 

Act.  The current business model provides 

for an annual State government grant 

supporting approximately 52.9% of the 

RTBG’s current total operating budget, 

with the other 47.1% of funds sourced 

from RTBG generated activities.

Asset Management

The RTBG maintains a register of all 

assets exceeding $1,000 in accordance 

with Treasury requirements and a general 

register for assets less than $1,000.  

Database records are also provided for 

specialist collections including plants, 

library and herbarium.  A computerised 

point of sale system provides an inventory 

of all retail stock.

Acquisitions, disposals and write-offs are 

recorded.  An Asset Register Valuation 

has valued the RTBG’s assets at over 

$14m.  The Strategic Conservation and 

Asset Management Plan determine the 

priorities and nature of works for the 

maintenance of assets within the Gardens.

Risk Management

The RTBG takes a proactive approach 

to Risk Identification and Mitigation, 

and has developed a Risk Profile and 

comprehensive Risk Mitigations Strategies 

associated with all aspects of operations.  

The RTBG manages risk through 

participation in the whole of government 

risk management fund for staff worker’s 

compensation coverage.  Public liability, 

professional indemnity, motor vehicle 

and personal accident risks are managed 

through brokered insurance policies.

Our Staff

The RTBG recognises and values the 

wealth of experience and knowledge of 

our staff, which have helped to develop 

and manage these gardens.  The RTBG 

manages its human resources in line with 

staff requirements, the State Service 

Act 2002 and DPIPWE policies and 

guidelines ensuring that staff policies and 

procedures are consistent and fair.

Managing Diversity

The RTBG is committed to the principles 

and values of diversity in the workplace 

and maintains relevant statistics in 

response to workplace initiatives. 

Workplace Health and Safety

The RTBG is committed to providing 

a safe and healthy workplace through 

adherence to relevant legislation and 

implementation and monitoring of 

appropriate work practices.  A WH&S 

Committee provides a representative and 

professional development opportunity for 

all staff to be actively involved in a wide 

range of Gardens-related WH&S matters.  

The Committee meets monthly and 

records outcomes and recommendations 

to RTBG management.  It also implements 

regular WH&S site audits and reviews 

procedures and work practices.

Worker’s compensation claims are 

actively managed through DPIPWE and 

the Department’s contract rehabilitation 

services, which have provided invaluable 

assistance to staff with active worker’s 

compensation claims.

How We Operate
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During 2014-2015, the RTBG worked 
to make positive contributions towards the 
achievement of the Government’s policies 
and objectives. 

Tackling Tasmania’s unemployment 
rate / Creating a job ready generation

The RTBG continues to provide a wide 

range of employment and training 

opportunities to Tasmanians from all 

sectors of the community. In addition, the 

RTBG continues to provide opportunities 

for volunteer engagement to assist 

individuals to improve their skills and 

confidence as an aid to finding employment. 

The Gardens remain committed to 

advocating lifelong learning and skills 

development among staff and volunteers 

by providing structured, accredited 

professional development opportunities 

at all levels within the organisation, in 

addition, the Gardens will continue to offer 

a range of apprenticeships and traineeships 

throughout the organisation.

The Gardens endeavour to provide a 

broad range of educational programs 

aimed at meeting the needs of the 

community including, school curriculum 

based programs, horticultural programs 

and community programs focusing on 

horticultural and environmental topics. 

The RTBG recognises the immense value 

of the contribution of its employees in 

ensuring the prosperity and sustainability 

of its operations. It remains committed to 

working with staff to provide a safe, flexible 

and rewarding workplace that encourages 

healthy work-life balances. 

Additional support for people living 
with a disability / Celebrating seniors 
/ Children, Young people and Families 
/ A long term plan for mental health

The RTBG continues to provide a safe, 

enriching and relaxing environment for 

the wider community to enjoy. The Gardens 

will maintain a strong focus on continuous 

improvement and monitoring in relation 

to all aspects of Occupational Health 

and Safety.

Through its Corrective Services Inmate 

Labour and Training program, the Gardens 

will continue to provide offenders with 

meaningful work and re-socialisation 

opportunities to assist them in successfully 

reintegrating into the community. 

In an effort to promote healthy lifestyle 

choices the Gardens will continue to 

provide a venue for participating in exercise 

and leisure activities in an environment that 

is safe, welcoming and stress free. 

To encourage healthy lifestyles the Gardens 

continues to provide a diverse range of 

stimulating and enjoyable, educational 

school and community programs 

to encourage interaction with, and 

understanding of the natural world.

The Gardens recognises the valuable 

contribution made by volunteers and 

supporters at all levels of its operations. 

The Gardens will continue to provide 

enriching opportunities for participation 

by volunteers throughout the organisation, 

and will ensure volunteers receive 

appropriate training and support to 

assist their endeavors.

Through ongoing support of events 

such as Mental Health Week, as well as 

the provision of horticultural education 

programs aimed at providing assistance to 

Tasmania’s growing migrant communities, 

the Gardens will continue to promote 

diversity within the broader community. 

Growing jobs in the creative 
industries / Growing our Tourism 
Industry / Unlocking the potential 
of our parks  

Through its rich and diverse annual 

cultural and events programs the Gardens 

continues to provide employment 

opportunities for those working in the arts 

and cultural sector. In addition, the Gardens 

will continue to develop and promote 

cultural events that reflect the vibrancy and 

diversity of Tasmania’s cultural identity. 

The Gardens are currently one of the most 

visited cultural venues in Tasmania with 

visitation in excess of 400,000 annually. 

The Gardens will continue to vigorously 

promote and interpret Tasmania’s rich 

cultural heritage within Tasmania, nationally 

and internationally. 

As custodians of a significant cultural 

heritage landscape and collections, the 

Gardens provide sound stewardship of the 

cultural heritage assets under its control. 

Aboriginal culture and heritage is 

recognised through significant key 

themes outlined in the RTBG’s Thematic 

Interpretation Plan and the Strategic 

Master Plan.

The Gardens continues its programs of 

Visitor and Community Surveys as well 

as comprehensive stakeholder 

consultation processes.

Backing small business / Growing 
Tasmania’s hospitality industry

The RTBG runs a number of activities to 

sustain its operations and continues to 

provide a diverse range of high quality 

products, services and activities to meet 

the needs of visitors to Tasmania. 

The RTBG provides additional 

opportunities for small business through 

the lease of its restaurant and catering 

services and through business linkages 

to the Gardens events.

Looking to the future with energy

As custodians of an iconic cultural heritage 

landscape, the Gardens provide sound 

stewardship of the cultural heritage 

assets under its control.

Independently and in partnership with 

others, the Gardens will continue to 

strive to protect and conserve Tasmania’s 

botanical biodiversity by initiatives 

such as operating the Tasmanian Seed 

Conservation Centre, undertaking research 

aimed at ensuring the survival of rare, 

threatened and endangered species, 

and by managing and maintaining 

Tasmania’s ex situ botanical collections. 

The RTBG is a signatory to the Botanic 

Gardens Conservation International 

(BGCI) 2011-2020 Targets for Botanic 

Gardens Agenda, which contributes 

to the Global Strategy for Plant 

Conservation (GSPC).

The Gardens remain committed to 

achieving environmental sustainability 

in all aspects of its operations. 

Our Shared Priorities
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Ongoing implementation of the RTBG’s Strategic Master Plan including:

A highlight of the collecting season for the RTBG’s Tasmanian Seed Conservation Centre in 2015 was the 

Montane Conifer Seed Collection Project in collaboration with the Natural Values Conservation Branch of 

DPIPWE. Four endemic conifers were targeted with a total of over 1.5 million viable seeds collected with the 

help of RTBG volunteers and the Tasmanian Land Conservancy. The project is highlighted in Case Study 1.

The 10th biennial conference of the Australian Network for Plant Conservation was held in Hobart in November 

2014 with over 200 delegates attending from throughout Australia and New Zealand. The overall theme was 

Sustaining Plant Diversity – Adapting to a Changing World and the details are outlined in Case Study 2.

RTBG staff completed the final draft of the Recommendations for the Development of the Living Collections for 

presentation to the Board for approval. This document will provide the basis for the ongoing management of the 

Living Collection into the future and is examined in Case Study 3.

A Hobart-based company generously sponsored the purchase and installation of 161 solar panels to help reduce 

the RTBG’s power costs. The system, designed by PowerCom, was operational in June 2015 and will deliver 

savings of up to $15,000 per year as discussed in Case Study 4. 

A popular night time event at the Gardens was the sculptural installation Giidanyba that ran for 10 days in 

June 2015 by artist Tyrone Sheather as part of Dark Mofo.  This Aboriginal contemporary art cultural project 

was hosted by the RTBG in partnership with the Salamanca Arts Centre. The artwork featured seven human-

sized sculptures which radiated light and music when approached in the darkness of the night. The sculptures 

represented the spirit beings of the Gumbaynggirr people of northern NSW.

Highlights of the Year
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The Royal Tasmanian Botanical 
Gardens’ organisational structure 
comprises three separate business units. 
The area of responsibility for each unit 
is detailed below. 

Collections & Research

This Unit is responsible for the 

management of all horticultural and 

botanical operations and associated 

programs and resources including 

the curation of plant collections and 

displays, plant production and related 

environmental programs. It encompasses: 

Gardens Operations

The Gardens Operations Unit is 

responsible for the horticultural 

management and curation of the plant 

collections, plant displays and nursery 

plant production. In addition, horticultural 

refurbishment including heritage 

landscapes comprising garden elements 

and lawns, waste management, asset 

maintenance and landscape services, 

as well as work place training and event 

support as incorporated within this unit.

Botanical Resources

Responsible for the maintenance of 

documentation contained in the plant 

collections database, site mapping, 

tagging and labeling collections, 

maintaining the ancillary library, 

herbarium and archival collections. 

In addition this unit undertakes 

plant-based research through grants, 

conservation of collections and the 

development and monitoring of plant 

health protocols.

Tasmanian Seed Conservation Centre 
(TSCC)

This major collaborative partnership 

aimed at safeguarding Tasmania’s 

botanical biodiversity is responsible for 

the operation of the Safe Seed facility 

including seed collection, processing 

and associated research functions.

Public Programs and Operations

This Unit is responsible for the 

coordination and definition of the cultural 

profile of the Gardens and ensures the 

quality of the Gardens’ contribution to 

public knowledge, understanding and 

appreciation of flora from Tasmania 

and other world regions. In addition it 

is responsible for the management and 

maintenance off all assets under the 

control of the RTBG. It encompasses:

Learning and Community Engagement

The Learning and Community 

Engagement Unit is responsible for the 

development and delivery of all school, 

vocational education and adult learning 

as well as community engagement and 

education programs offered by the RTBG. 

Marketing and Events

The Marketing and Events Unit is 

responsible for the development and 

implementation of a marketing and 

communications program that aims 

to refocus the image of the RTBG and 

promote its use to a wider audience. 

The Unit is also responsible for event 

management, sponsorship, managing 

public relations for the RTBG, and 

the maintenance and development of 

the RTBG online presence including 

the RTBG website and various social 

networking sites. 

Interpretation Projects

Interpretation includes developing 

and presenting themes, stories and 

messages that underpin the RTBG’s 

programs to visitors and providing for 

the orientation and information needs of 

visitors including exhibitions and signage 

throughout the Gardens, as well as 

coordinating the Interpretive Guides.

Assets and Infrastructure

The roles of this Unit is to manage 

and maintain assets and infrastructure 

under the control of the RTBG including 

all aspects of built cultural heritage, 

landscape construction, capital 

expenditure and asset maintenance, 

 and associated project management. 

In addition the unit also coordinates and 

manages all security, event logistics and 

cleaning services for the RTBG.

Business Services

The Business Services Unit is responsible 

for providing financial management, 

human resources coordination and 

business administration including 

reception and booking services, 

venue hire, records management, and 

secretariat to the RTBG Board. In 

addition it encompasses the management 

of retail operations including merchandise 

development, provision of information 

to visitors, daily operations of the Visitor 

Centre, gallery bookings, school bookings, 

visitor statistics and feedback and all 

cash handling. 

Introduction to Each Business Unit
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Goal 1

To sustainably manage the core values of 

the RTBG as Tasmania’s botanical gardens

• Strategy 1.1: To ensure the RTBG 

is internationally recognised for its 

collections of southern hemisphere 

cool climate plants with a particular 

emphasis on Tasmania’s flora. 

• Strategy 1.2: To respect, conserve 

and interpret the cultural values of 

the site. 

• Strategy 1.3: To support and be 

involved in world flora conservation 

programs.

• Strategy 1.4: To be a community 

leader in sustainable environmental 

programs. 

• Strategy 1.5: To engage in appropriate 

research related to the conservation 

of species of conservation significance 

from southern hemisphere cool 

climate areas with a particular 

emphasis on Tasmania’s Flora. 

Goal 2

To promote and manage the Gardens to 

ensure its users have the opportunity to 

attain a quality experience of the place 

and its value

• Strategy 2.1: To achieve excellence in 

horticultural and botanical education, 

training and extension programs. 

• Strategy 2.2: To communicate the 

relevance, importance and history 

of the RTBG, its programs, people 

and context through meaningful and 

valued interpretation. 

• Strategy 2.3: To be a recognised 

deliverer of quality programs, 

products and services.

• Strategy 2.4: To position the RTBG as 

one of the top Tasmanian Attractions 

in terms of number of visits and levels 

of awareness. 

• Strategy 2.5: To develop the built 

environment to facilitate the 

experience of the Gardens.

• Strategy 2.6: To maintain the built 

environment of the RTBG in a manner 

that addresses the requirements 

for basic function, safety and 

public amenity.

Goal 3

To ensure there is sufficient capacity 

to sustainably manage the RTBG

• Strategy 3.1: To ensure that the 

legislative requirements for the 

operations of the Gardens are 

effectively met.

• Strategy 3.2: To ensure that the 

funding available to the Gardens 

is adequate to realise its vision 

and mission.

• Strategy 3.3: To deliver innovative, 

proactive and sustainable business 

practices to support and enhance 

RTBG programs. 

• Strategy 3.4: To provide safe 

and enriching work and social 

environments for staff, stakeholders 

and visitors. 

Strategic Master Plan: Goals and Strategies 
The RTBG Strategic Master Plan 2009 identifies the three core goals of the RTBG as well as a range of strategies aimed at assisting 
in the achievement of these goals. 
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Goal 1
To sustainably manage the core values of the 
RTBG as Tasmania’s botanical garden.
Established in 1818, the Royal Tasmanian Botanical Gardens 

is Australia’s second oldest Botanic Garden. The RTBG is 

distinguished by a number of unique collections and houses 

the largest collection of conifers in the southern hemisphere. 

The Tasmanian native collection is significant due to the 

unique nature of Tasmania’s flora with around 30% of species 

being endemic to the State. Complementing this is the worlds’ 

only Subantarctic Plant House which holds collections from 

Macquarie Island. 
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Strategy 1.1
Ensure the RTBG is recognised for its 
collections of southern hemisphere cool 
climate plants with an emphasis on 
Tasmania’s flora.

Living Collections Management 

Display Development

Visitor Centre 

Following the removal of the large Chilean 

pepper tree, Schinus latifolius, in July 

2014 from outside the RTBG Visitor 

Centre, the garden bed in which it grew 

required substantial redevelopment. After 

consideration and discussion by the Living 

Collections Development Group it was 

decided to install a new planting that was 

quite contemporary in style but still sat 

neatly amongst the collections of heritage 

planting surrounding it. A central lawn 

area has been created to allow visitors 

to sit and enjoy the shade of three newly 

planted honey locusts, Gleditsia triacanthos 

‘Lime Gold’. The surrounding planting 

includes the beautifully perfumed sweet 

box, Sarcococca confusa, perennial Phlomis 

and a combination of ornamental grasses. 

Greater Hobart Collection

The Greater Hobart Collection, which is 

situated in the northern precinct of the 

Gardens, experienced a major revamp 

this year. The reworking of this collection, 

which has been undertaken by the North 

horticulture team, has involved the 

removal of unthrifty plant specimens, 

soil improvement, the installation of an 

automatic irrigation system and replanting 

of new specimens.

The new planting will be laid out in such 

a way as to demonstrate how these 

plants could be used in a garden style by 

carefully grouping specimens, often in 

large numbers, to accentuate their form, 

flowering qualities and natural appeal.

Following the completion of planting, a 

variety of interpretive material will be 

developed to inform visitors more about 

this important collection.

Tasmanian Community Food Garden

The Tasmanian Community Food Garden 

was bolstered this year by a variety of 

new permanent plantings, including five 

hazelnut trees, boysenberry vines, step-

over apples and a mix of citrus trees. The 

permanent plantings are used to create 

structure and form in the garden while 

demonstrating the diversity of food plants 

that can be grown in Tasmania. While most 

of the permanent planting is situated in 

the outer garden beds, the smaller internal 

beds have been used by a diverse range 

of community groups to grow annual food 

crops of their choice and hone their skills 

in growing fresh produce. 

The installation of a new paved area in the 

Fruit Forest, which is situated in the south 

eastern corner of the garden, took place 

in February of this year. The work was 

carried out by RTBG horticulturists Adam 

Lancaster and Elizabeth Ziegler. This work 

was complemented by the installation of a 

light steel arch framework at the entrance 

to this area on which espaliered apples are 

being trained to create a living archway.

Plant Relocations

A large specimen of Japanese maple, 

Acer palmatum was relocated as part of 

redevelopments in the area in front of 

the Education Pod to a new home in the 

eastern section, close to the Japanese 

Garden. Horticultural staff carried out 

the task of moving the tree, under the 

expert guidance of RTBG arborist 

Alister Hodgman.

Tasmanian Fernery

The timber boardwalk at the entrance 

to the Tasmanian Fernery was replaced 

in August 2014. Many of the supporting 

timbers in the structure had decayed 

badly over time, becoming unsightly and 

hazardous to users of the facility, including 

visitors and staff. Following the installation 

of the new boardwalk a number of 

changes were made to the planting of fern 

material at the entrance to the fernery. 

New planting was used to enhance the 

entry point and accentuate the experience 

of moving into the unique atmosphere that 

has been created within.

Nursery

The RTBG Nursery team had another 

busy year, undertaking the ongoing 

management of the Conservatory, 

Conservation collections and all other 

potted collections. The Nursery produced 

significant numbers of plants as new 

additions to the Living Collections. 

The Orchid collection continues to be 

a great drawcard for visitors to the 

Conservatory, with over thirty different 

species of orchid on display. 

A new heat bench and enclosed heated 

growing facility were installed during the 

year allowing us to grow new species of 

orchids that would normally be found in 

more northern climes. The purchase of 

these new growing facilities was made 

possible by a generous annual donation 

from the Tasmanian Orchid Society. 

The new heated facility has now given the 

Nursery the ability to grow the stunning 

Amorphophallus titanium, commonly 

known as the Titan arum. Regarded as a 

giant among plants, it grows naturally in 

the rainforests of western Sumatra and 

produces one of the largest flowering 

structures in the plant kingdom which 

reaches almost three metres in height. 

It is hoped that we can successfully grow 

a small collection of Titan arums and 

display the flowering specimens in the 

conservatory in the coming years.

Arboriculture

The Arboriculture team worked 

throughout the year to monitor and 

maintain the RTBG’s valuable collections 

of trees to the highest standards. 

Goal 1
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The Arboriculture team undertook a 

substantial amount of external arbor 

work through the established consultancy 

service that provided technical reports 

and advice for private and public clients. 

A major focus again this year has been 

working with local government tree 

managers at regional shire councils. 

This work provided valuable management 

tools for clients in the management of 

their trees into the future. A substantial 

amount of assessment and reporting 

work was undertaken for the Catholic 

Education Office, which involved inspecting 

and assessing a diverse range of trees in 

Catholic schools throughout the state.

One of the ongoing challenges of the RTBG 

Arboriculture unit was to manage the 

consultancy arm of the business with the 

demands that go with managing the RTBG’s 

own tree collection. Due to the increasing 

cost of operating this style of business unit 

balanced with the limited scheduled fees 

for consultancy work the difficult decision 

to cease the unit was made in late 2014. 

The ongoing management of the RTBG tree 

collection now comes under the Collections 

and Research Unit, with all tree work being 

undertaken by private contractors.  

Thanks to the extensive amount of 

assessment and ongoing maintenance 

planning carried out by the Arboriculture 

team we as an organisation have a clear and 

concise work program in place to guide us 

in the future management of our valuable 

tree collection.

Estate Team

The Estate team, assisted by Corrective 

Services inmates, work to ensure the 

gardens is maintained to the highest 

standards. 

The Estate Team’s key responsibilities 

cover:

• The care and management of all lawn 

areas within the RTBG

• The management and processing of 

all green waste produced within the 

gardens throughout the year. This 

work is of critical importance to the 

organisation as it provides an ongoing 

source of premium composted organic 

matter for the horticulture teams. 

The processing of green waste also 

contributes to the RTBG’s commitment 

to reducing the amount of waste 

material sent to landfill.

Other duties include:

• Management of the Domain Highway 

edge and the Lower Domain Road 

edges, including weeding, slashing and 

regular rubbish patrols.

• The ongoing management of the RTBG 

portion of the Derwent Foreshore and 

Pavilion Point sites.

• Ongoing maintenance of the Bridge to 

City project precinct on the Derwent 

Foreshore including, brushcutting, 

weeding and rubbish removal.

Consultancy

RTBG Horticultural Staff selectively 

undertake a range of external consultancy 

projects including:

Baha’i Centre

RTBG staff continued their work at the 

Tasmanian Baha’i Centre for Learning with 

the completion of new planting works to 

two garden beds around the centre. 

The new planting scheme was designed 

by staff, and the planting works were 

undertaken with the help of a number of 

Certificate II Horticulture students working 

under the guidance of RTBG horticulturists. 

Both of the garden beds are in close 

proximity to the entrance of the building 

and it is hoped that as the planting matures 

it will enhance the beauty of this uniquely 

designed and distinctive building.

Tasmanian Seed Conservation Centre 

Support 

Members of the horticulture teams 

continued to provide support to 

James Wood and the Tasmanian Seed 

Conservation Centre through regular 

involvement in seed collection trips 

throughout the state. 

Hothouse – Dark MOFO

The RTBG supplied plant material to the 

Dark MOFO Hothouse project, which was a 

giant structure created entirely of bamboo 

on the Salamanca lawns during June. 

The Hothouse was used during the 

festival as a venue for topical discussion 

and strategic thinking on issues affecting 

all Tasmanians. Our horticulture staff 

harvested material that went into the 

construction of the small Pod structures 

that were located within the Hothouse.

Biosecurity 

Myrtle Rust

The disease myrtle rust, Puccinia psidii, 

was discovered in Tasmania for the first 

time in February 2015. The disease was 

first confirmed in Australia in central New 

South Wales in 2010 and quickly spread 

up and down the east coast northwards to 

Queensland and south to Victoria where 

it was discovered at the end of 2011. The 

disease affects members of the Myrtaceae 

plant family which includes eucalypts, 

bottlebrushes and tea trees. It attacks new 

growth in affected plants and can in some 

cases lead to plant death. It has been found 

to attack over 200 native and exotic species 

in gardens and in the wild in Australia. 

In Tasmania it has been found in selections 

of Lophomyrtus in private gardens and 

in Lophomyrtus, Chilean guava, Ugni 

molinae, and willow myrtle, Agonis flexuosa, 

in nurseries. The original diagnosis in 

Tasmania was on plants in a private garden 

in the Burnie area and by the end of May 

2015 the disease had been confirmed in 70 

private gardens and nurseries in the north, 

northwest and south of the state with the 

major outbreak in the northwest. 
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Case Study 1:

Montane Conifer Seed 
Collection Project 2015
The autumn of 2015 saw a major masting event of Tasmania’s montane conifers. The iconic King Billy 
(Athrotaxis selaginoides) and pencil pines (Athrotaxis cupressoides) “masted” (a term used for periodic mass 
production of fruit) across much of the western mountains, as well as two co-occuring shrubby conifers - 
Cheshunt pine (Diselma archeri) and the threatened drooping pine (Pherosphaera hookeriana). It is likely 
that these conifers are particularly vulnerable to increasing drought and fire risk due to climate change. 
Some populations have already been lost to fire and may not be able to re-establish naturally due to 
fragmented distributions and poor dispersal capacity.  

Between March and May 2015 the RTBG and Natural Values Conservation Branch of DPIPWE were 
assisted by RTBG volunteers and the Tasmanian Land Conservancy to make 26 conifer seed collections 
across the western mountains of Tasmania.  In all 86.7Kg of cone bearing material was harvested from 
14 separate locations - from the Southern Ranges in the south to Cradle Mt in the north and the Tyndall 
Range in the west to Pine Lake in the east. 

The 2015 collection program achieved excellent results expanding collections of all target species to exceed 
minimum conservation collection requirements and provide a substantial conservation resource should it be 
needed. In total over 1.57 million viable seeds were secured, with an average collection size of 60,000 seeds. 
Seed quantities held in the TSCC increased 9 fold for A. cupressoides, 27 fold for A. selaginoides, 65 fold for 
D. archeri and 127 fold for P. hookeriana. Most sites were accessed via vehicles and foot but three trips were 
conducted using helicopters to access remote sites.

These collections will provide an important insurance policy against future losses through establishing seed 
reserves for restoration and other conservation measures. In doing so we help to ensure that Tasmania’s 
unique and ancient floral heritage is not lost to future generations. A full report on the collecting program 
was submitted to the department and is available on the Tasmanian Regions website.
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The RTBG has monitored its collections 

for myrtle rust annually since the disease 

was first discovered in Australia in 2010. 

Weekly surveys of the Gardens were 

undertaken by the Horticultural Botanist 

and Northern Team from February to May 

following the discovery of the disease in 

Tasmania. To this point the RTBG remains 

Myrtle Rust free. The RTBG Myrtle Rust 

Procedures are currently being finalised 

with regard to the disease’s current status 

in the state.

Biosecurity Tasmania initiated an 

emergency response operation when the 

disease was first diagnosed in February 

2015 with the mission to eradicate 

myrtle rust from Tasmania. RTBG staff 

have been involved in the myrtle rust 

response operation since the disease was 

found in February 2015. Curator Chris 

Lang and Horticultural Botanist Natalie 

Tapson were appointed as Inspectors 

under the Plant Quarantine Act and 

were seconded for three weeks each to 

work with Biosecurity staff and carry 

out surveillance of nurseries and private 

gardens in the north, northwest and south 

of the state. 

The extensive plant identification skills 

of RTBG staff added another layer to 

the surveillance for likely hosts in the 

family Myrtaceae and Curator Lorraine 

Perrins, Team Leader David Marrison and 

Horticulturist Adam Lancaster each spent 

a week as part of surveillance teams in the 

south of the state. 

Part of Biosecurity Tasmania’s response 

was to put a control area declaration in 

place across the state forbidding the sale 

and supply of Lophomyrtus and Chilean 

guava in Tasmania. The response team 

was demobilised at the end of May as the 

disease is inactive over winter and will 

resume as the conditions that favour the 

disease return in spring 2015.

Curator of Tasmanian Flora

Tasmanian Native Section

The triangle shaped island bed below 

the northern end of the Tasmanian Native 

Section has been re-themed to display 

a number of species naturally found in 

Tasmanian coastal habitats. 

This effectively extends the sections 

coastal plantings into an area that was 

previously themed to display southeast 

Australian species.

Greater Hobart Collection

Substantial redevelopment of the 

Greater Hobart Collection through 

implementation of a redesigned plant 

layout has commenced. The focus of work 

so far has been the removal of existing 

plants with soil addition/ amelioration 

and irrigation installation to follow. 

All specimens for plant-out have been 

propagated and grown on in the RTBG 

nursery and represent the diverse nature 

of the flora in and around the Hobart 

region. Effective interpretation is critical 

to the success of the collection and 

planning has commenced to determine 

how best to convey the stories we want to 

tell about Hobart’s wonderful local flora.

Tasmanian Fernery and Associated 

Plantings

The Gardens were the fortunate 

recipients of 7 advanced tree fern 

(Dicksonia antarctica) plants kindly 

donated by Sandy Bay residents, Vickie 

and Peter Douglas. The ferns have been 

planted adjacent to the fernery on the 

southern side of the building. Additional 

plantings of Tasmanian wet forest/sub-

alpine species will further enhance what 

was previously a poorly themed area.

French Explorers Collection

The French Memorial Collection has been 

renamed the French Explorers Collection. 

The new title better reflects the thematic 

intent of the collection i.e. to display a 

representative range of species collected 

by the early French botanists during the 

late 18th and early 19th centuries.

Due to its poor condition, the sign 

interpreting the Stephen Walker Huon 

Pine Sculpture has been replaced and 

some minor text changes have been 

made. Further interpretive ideas for the 

collection are ongoing with a particular 

emphasis on the activities of the most 

prominent French botanical collector in 

Tasmania, voyager-naturalist Jacques-

Julien de Labillardière.

External Work

Bahai Center of Learning

Gardens staff with assistance from 

RTBG certificate 2 Horticulture students 

continued the process of re-theming 

existing Bahai Centre plantings to display 

only those species that occur naturally in 

Tasmania’s southeast bioregion. 

Myrtle Rust 

Curator Chris Lang attended a Myrtle 

Rust video conference training session. 

The conference linked teams in Tasmania’s 

South, North and Northwest to provide 

instruction and advice on how to conduct 

nursery surveys and accurately identify 

Myrtle Rust. Chris contributed a total of 

three weeks to Biosecurity Tasmania’s 

Myrtle Rust Emergency Response effort 

assisting with the development of nursery 

surveys and street surveillance work. 

Plant identification skills proved to be of 

great value during engagement in a range 

of response field work activities.

With direct experience in dealing with the 

outbreak Chris met up with Tasmanian 

Arboretum President Phil Parsons on-site 

to discuss the Arboretum’s approach to 

monitoring for Myrtle Rust. Phil is very 

much aware of the signs and symptoms 

of the disease and conducts regular 

monitoring of susceptible species 

across the site. 

Goal 1
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New Myrtle Rust protocols were 

developed for the RTBG in light of the 

disease entering the state. The document 

outlines the Gardens strategic response 

to the Myrtle Rust incursion in Tasmania. 

Measures outlined therein aim to minimise 

the possibility of disease establishment at 

the RTBG. 

Technical Advice / Information

• Provided Renee Catullo, Post-doctoral 

Fellow CSIRO Ecosystem studies, 

Canberra with a list of Australian native 

plants growing at the RTBG for the 

Australian Native Plant Survey. The list 

contributed to an extensive survey of 

where Australian native species can be 

successfully grown in Australia. 

• Provided Dr. Ben Wallace with detailed 

information regarding the cultural 

conditions of six Eucryphia moorei 

specimens growing at the RTBG. 

Dr. Wallace’s enquiry related to a paper 

he was writing for the International 

Dendrology Society’s Yearbook, 

entitled Tree of the Year.

• Curator Tasmanian Flora, Chris Lang 

and Northern Team Leader, David 

Marrison responded to a number of 

Tasmanian native plant enquiries 

from members of the public. 

• Curator Tasmanian Flora, Chris Lang 

and Northern Team Leader, David 

Marrison provided improved, 

updated descriptions of Tasmanian 

native collections for the RTBG 

website redesign.

• Assisted Horticultural Botanist, Natalie 

Tapson with the selection of 12 rare and 

threatened Tasmanian native species as 

subjects for sphere view filming.

Curator Conservation Collections 
and Subantarctic Flora

Key projects for the year included:

Azorella macquariensis Dieback 
Program

The 54 ex-situ conservation collection 

and seed orchard plantings on Macquarie 

Island continue to be monitored closely 

with assistance of regular images sent to 

RTBG via the Tasmanian Parks and Wildlife 

Rangers based on the Island. All plants 

appear to have settled in and are growing 

well, with the exception of a single genotype 

which was replaced during spring 2014. 

The RTBG is grateful for support for 

this project from the Mohammed bin 

Zayed Species Conservation Fund, the 

Foundation for National Parks and Wildlife, 

the Australian Antarctic Division and the 

Tasmanian Parks and Wildlife Service.

Application to the Australian Antarctic 

Division’s Non-Science project funding 

for the establishment and monitoring of 

the Azorella macquariensis ex-situ seedbank 

orchard on Wireless Hill, Macquarie Island, 

was successful, taking AAD ongoing 

support for this program until 2017.

RTBG Subantarctic Collections

Lorraine Perrins, Curator Conservation 

Collections and Subantarctic Flora, 

coordinated, and contributed to, the 

development of a Subantarctic Theme 

of the Journal of the Australian Plants 

Society Summer 2014/15 Edition. Nine 

articles were provided by RTBG staff and 

staff from DPIPWE and UTAS introducing 

readers to the flora of Macquarie Island, 

the RTBG Azorella ex-situ Conservation 

Project, the very successful Pest 

Eradication Program, and the RTBG’s 

Subantarctic Display House. The Journal 

also kindly included a funding appeal to 

members to support the ongoing work 

of the Azorella Project, which resulted 

in the purchase of 2 rain sensors for the 

supplementary irrigation of the plantings.

A number of photographers visited the 

RTBG Nursery to take images of the 

Windswept Helmet Orchid, Nematoceras 

dienemum, in the Subantarctic Container, 

resulting in professionally captured images 

for the RTBG to use for our interpretation.

Seed Bank Orchard Activity

The RTBG Nursery has developed 40 

seed orchards since the RTBG Seedbank 

commenced in 2005, 60% of which have 

consisted of threatened Tasmanian flora. 

21 seed orchards have been completed to 

date, two failed due to disease outbreak, 

one was decommissioned due to good 

seed collection in the wild and 16 remain in 

production. Pollination issues still remain a 

concern for the successful seed production 

of a number of species. 

The seed orchard of Xerochrysum 

collierianum was completed this year 

with a harvest of 30,500 seeds. 

Additionally one new seed orchard 

commenced of Haloragis brownii.

Other

• Attended two Biosecurity Myrtle Rust 

Response stakeholder meetings on 

behalf of the RTBG.

• Participated in the Myrtle Rust 

Response surveillance teams for a 

period of 1 week in February 2015 and 

in the RTBG Myrtle Rust Response 

policy and planning protocols.

• Provided induction to the Nursery for 

the Native Orchid Program Volunteers.

• Commenced a trial on the effectiveness 

of the Nematode Steinernema feltiae 

for the control of fungus gnats on 

native orchid seedling establishment 

over winter.

• Liaised with Keith Springer, Project 

Manager Macquarie Island Pest 

Eradication Project, regarding new 

interpretation displays highlighting this 

project in the RTBG Subantarctic House

Goal 1

RTBG Annual Report 201522



Acquisitions 

There were 195 new accessions for the 

period July 2014 to the end of June 2015. 

New accessions included:

• Ferns to bulk up under plantings in the 

New Zealand Collection and the Fern 

Gully above the Pond. 

• The RTBG received a donation of 

Begonia species and cultivars from 

Begonia Group volunteer, Peter Sharp. 

Plants propagated by the group form 

part of the rotational display in the 

Conservatory. 

• 240 plants of 5 Tasmanian orchid 

species were accessed from germinants 

propagated by the RTBG Threatened 

Orchid Propagation Program. These 

included the pungent leek orchid, 

Prasophyllum olidum, the grassland 

greenhood, Petrostylis ziegeleri and the 

sagg spider orchid, Caladenia saggicola. 

• A donation of 5 Agathis species from 

New Caledonia and the Pacific Islands 

was received from Dermott Molloy 

from the Royal Botanic Gardens 

Melbourne. These were grafted onto 

a rootstock of the Queensland Kauri, 

Agathis robusta.

Strategy 1.2
Respect, Conserve and Interpret the 
Cultural Values of the Site

Ancillary Collections

Library

One hundred and six new books were 

added to the RTBG library over the 2014-

2015 financial year. Donations included 6 

volumes of the Endemic Flora of Tasmania 

from Mr and Mrs C Pearson, A Field Guide 

to New Zealand Trees from Rewi Elliott of 

the Otari Native Botanic Garden and a 

DVD Saving Macquarie Island from Keith 

Springer of the Macquarie Island Pest 

Eradication Program. The rationalisation of 

the DPIPWE library to one location at Mt 

Pleasant in Launceston saw the donation of 

41 horticultural titles to the RTBG library. 

Volunteer Jessica Mullock undertook a 

stocktake of the RTBG library collection 

which now needs to be checked against the 

library accession database.

RTBG Herbarium

The Herbarium continues to be used 

by the Gardens Academy Certificate of 

Horticulture students and occasionally to 

cross check identifications for members 

of the public. There is currently one active 

herbarium volunteer.

Strategy 1.3
Support and be involved in world flora 
conservation programs.

Tasmanian Seed Conservation 
Centre (TSCC)

Collection statistics for the TSCC to date 

(up to 30th June 2015)

1,630 Collections of 1,064 Taxa, including 

453 Collections of Rare and Threatened 

plants from 266 Taxa. So far the TSCC and 

its volunteer staff have undertaken 6,475 

germination tests on 1,032 Collections, 

5,887 of which have been successfully 

completed. 

Quick Statistics for 2014 - 2015

61 collections were made (54 field and 7 

seed orchard) of which 12 were rare and 

threatened plants. Germination tests were 

conducted on 114 collections comprising 

of 759 tests in total. 

Collecting Program

The main focus of this year’s collecting 

season was the Montane Conifer Seed 

Collection Project in autumn 2015. A 

major masting in Tasmania’s mountain 

conifers resulted in 26 collections of 

4 endemic species – King Billy pine 

(Athrotaxis selaginoides), pencil pine 

(Athrotaxis cupressoides), Cheshunt pine 

(Diselma archeri) and the rare drooping 

pine (Pherosphaera hookeriana). In total 

86.7Kg of cone bearing material was 

harvested from 14 separate locations – 

from the Southern Ranges in the south to 

Cradle Mountain in the North and from 

the Tyndall Range in the west over to Pine 

Lake in the east. This collecting effort has 

secured 1.57 million viable seeds, with an 

average collection size of 60,000 seeds. 

Internship

Gennaro Scogmaniglio from Leiden 

University in the Netherlands continued 

his internship, begun in April 2014, 

until November 2014. The main focus 

of Gennaro’s work was to study the 

provenance affects (that is the area 

the seed was collected) on Tasmanian 

Pomaderris species. The conclusion of his 

research was that provenance did not 

appear to impact on germination optima or 

the expression of physiological dormancy. 

Rather physiological dormancy was a trait 

exhibited within species, in this case in 

Pomaderis racemosa and P. phylicifolia.

Seedbank Volunteers

The Tasmanian Seed Conservation Centre 

would be unable to carry out the day to day 

running of its program without the input of 

10 dedicated volunteers. Volunteers carry 

out a range of tasks from helping to collect 

seed in the wild to cleaning and processing 

seed to germination testing. Germination 

testing requires a commitment every week 

of the year to follow up the results of trials 

and as well as this many of the volunteers 

give time to help with the wild collecting of 

seed. In the 2014/2015 year the seedbank 

volunteers gave 1429 hours of their time 

to the RTBG. 

Tasmanian Orchid Conservation 
Program

The Tasmanian Orchid Conservation 

Program continues to operate out of the 

little transportable laboratory behind 

the TSCC. The laboratory is now almost 

fully equipped with the recent purchase 

of a dissecting microscope, however 

still a few larger equipment items are 

required including a dedicated incubator 

and an autoclave. The program, managed 

by Drs Nigel Swarts and Magali Wright 

is operating on external funding from 

the Threatened Species Link MOU and 
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research grants obtained by Nigel. Nigel 

provides approximately one day a week to 

the program, paid out of research funding 

during the spring field season and as a 

volunteer for the remainder of the year. 

Magali provides one day a fortnight to 

the program which is supported by her 

NRM South employer. Each Friday (with 

exception to 8 weeks during the winter 

period) up to 3 volunteers from the 

Friends of the Gardens and Threatened 

Plants Tasmania provide 5 hours each to 

the ongoing works of the conservation 

and research program. Lorraine Perrins 

and other Horticulture staff have 

generously provided their support to the 

maintenance of seedlings produced by 

the program in the glasshouse.

Outputs for the 2014/15 financial 

year include:

• Signed MOU between the RTBG, 

Friends of the Gardens, NRM South, 

NRM North and NRM Cradle Coast 

to assist with future ex situ orchid 

conservation with the provision 

of approximately $15,000 for the 

2014/15 season

 -   $5000 from NRM South

 -   $10,000 from NRM Cradle Coast

• Works completed specific to the 

Orchid Program under the MOU 

included:

 -   Ex situ recovery action undertaken 

for 14 orchid species, including 

collection from 10 species and 

attempted propagation of 12 

species. This exceeded the project 

target of 8 species.

 -   450 volunteers hours (or 90 days) 

contributed to ex situ orchid 

conservation activities Statewide. 

There are 9 volunteers who 

contribute to this work with 5 new 

volunteers starting in 2014-15.

• Continued training of volunteers in ex 

situ orchid conservation methods.

• Germination of over 300 seedlings 

of the critically endangered orchids 

Caladenia saggicola, Caladenia caudata 

and Pterostylis ziegeleri 

ANPC Conference

The Australasian Plant Conservation 

Conference (APCC 10) was held in 

Hobart in November 2014 with the 

theme Sustaining Plant Diversity – Adapting 

to a Changing World. Two hundred 

delegates from Tasmania, mainland 

Australia and New Zealand attended 

the conference which is held every 2 

years by the Australian Network for 

Plant Conservation. RTBG staff Mark 

Fountain, Natalie Tapson, James Wood 

and Lorraine Perrins were part of the 

Organising Committee and other RTBG 

staff including Megan Marrison, Chris 

Lang, David Marrison, Anne Griffin, 

Adam Lancaster and Margot White 

were involved in a variety of conference 

logistics. Professor Ian Lunt of Charles 

Sturt University gave the keynote address 

and delegates were able to attend over 50 

concurrent sessions on Prioritising Actions, 

Animals in Plant Conservation, Securing 

Biodiversity, Partnerships in Biodiversity 

and Engagement and Communication in the 

Modern World. A technology session was 

held on the final day of presentations and 

this was followed in the evening by a well 

attended public lecture by Dr Bob Brown. 

Feedback from delegates to a post-

conference survey was very positive. 

Strategy 1.4
Be a community leader in 
sustainable environmental 
programs.

Bridge to City Rehabilitation 
Project

Curator of Tasmanian Flora Chris Lang 

collected propagation material from 

local indigenous species on the Queens 

Domain and Foreshore areas for the 

Bridge to City Rehabilitation Project.

Strategy 1.5
Engage in appropriate research related 
to plants of conservation significance 
from southern hemisphere cool climate 
areas with a particular emphasis on the 
Tasmanian Flora.

Research Projects

Lomatia tasmanica

Research into the tissue culture 

propagation of the critically endangered 

King’s lomatia, Lomatia tasmanica, 

continues in collaboration with the 

Biological Sciences Department of the 

University of Tasmania. The RTBG has 

worked with UTAS research assistant 

Aina Price since 2005 on research 

into the propagation of this species 

and another trial was undertaken in 

December 2014 with explants surviving 

until the tubing on stage. Dr Eric Bunn,  

a conservation biotechnologist with Kings 

Park Botanic Gardens offered advice on 

the micro-propagation of King’s lomatia 

on a recent visit to the RTBG with the 

suggestion that material from basal 

shoots be used in the next trial.

Goal 1
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Case Study 2:

Australasian Plant Conservation 
Conference (APCC10) 
The biennial conference of the Australian Network for Plant Conservation was held in Hobart from the 11th-
14th November 2014. The overall theme was Sustaining Plant Diversity – Adapting to a Changing World and 
the program included a fascinating variety of presenters, an innovative technology session and some ‘behind the 
scenes’ tours of the Gardens.

Two hundred delegates from throughout Australia and New Zealand attended with numerous RTBG staff 
involved in the organisation of the conference. Volunteers from organisations such as the Friends of the RTBG, 
Threatened Plants Tasmania, NRM South and Greening Australia assisted greatly in the overall success. 
Seedbank Volunteer Arin Dean contributed over 150 hours as sponsorship coordinator with his efforts resulting 
in new collaborations and excellent support from Tasmanian produce and tourism businesses for the conference 
and delegates. 

The Keynote Address by Professor Ian Lunt of Charles Sturt University looked at the level of change in 
conservation science, knowledge and communication into the future. This theme was sustained throughout the 
conference to the public lecture by Dr Bob Brown and was accompanied by a degree of optimism in dealing with 
major environmental changes into the future. 

The quality of the presentations was excellent with plenary speakers including Dr Terry Walshe of the 
Australian Institute of Marine Science and Professor Jonathan Majer from Curtin University.  There were 
over 50 concurrent sessions on the themes of Prioritising Actions, Animals in Plant Conservation, Securing 
Biodiversity, Partnerships in Biodiversity and Engagement and Communication in the Modern World. 

Field trips included a tour of the Tasmanian Threatened Orchid Project and a trip to the northern Midlands 
of Tasmania with Greening Australia to look at the revegetation of the Macquarie River, part of the 1000 
hectares Biodiverse Restoration Research Project. The trip to the Central Plateau focussed on Hydro Tasmania’s 
Lagoon of Islands Project and the Miena cider gum.  

The conference was an opportunity for many local participants to engage with the ANPC for the first time and 
network with practitioners from around Australia and New Zealand.  Feedback from delegates to a post-
conference survey was exceedingly positive, with over 97% of respondents rating it as excellent or very good. 

RTBG Annual Report 2015 25



Hardenbergia violacea

The translocation of the endangered 

purple coral pea, Hardenbergia violacea, 

was monitored at Jansz Parish Vineyard 

(formerly Frogmore Creek) at Pontos 

Hills Penna in February 2015. The plants 

were last monitored in late 2012 when 

57% of the original 77 planted in October 

2010 survived. A further 11 had died in 

the intervening 2 years which was not an 

unexpected result given that the plants 

are not watered. Of those surviving a good 

proportion had produced seed in the last 

growing season. 

A survey was also undertaken of over 30 

new wild plants on an adjacent sandstone 

outcrop that had been discovered at the 

beginning of the project in 2010.  

Many were thriving and had also produced 

seed and nursery staff Lorraine Perrins 

and Megan Marrison revisited the site at 

the end of April and took cuttings of 

19 new genotypes of the wild plants, 

all of which have taken root.

Azorella macquariensis 

Application to the Australian Antarctic 

Division’s Non-Science project funding 

for the establishment and monitoring of 

the Azorella macquariensis ex-situ seedbank 

orchard on Wireless Hill, Macquarie Island, 

was successful, taking AAD ongoing 

support for this program until 2017.

The RTBG provided support for a successful 

submission to the Australian Antarctic 

Science Program by Chief Investigator 

Professor Melodie McGeogh titled 

‘Nowhere to hide? Conservation options for a 

subantarctic keystone species’. This four year 

project plans in part to look at identifying 

climatic refugia for the critically endangered 

Macquarie Island cushion, Azorella 

macquariensis, and predict the species 

response to a range of climate change and 

other scenarios. The RTBG is cited as one 

of the primary end users for this research 

in terms of the successful cultivation of 

Azorella macquariensis and the researchers 

will work with the RTBG to disseminate the 

findings to the general public.

Research Exchanges

• Seed of 7 Tasmanian species held in 

the Tasmanian Seed Conservation 

Centre (TSCC) were sent to Professor 

Tingshuang Yi at the Germplasm Bank 

of Wild Species at Kunming Institute of 

Botany in Yunnan China for systematic 

studies into the phylogeny of the 

angiosperms. Seedbank Coordinator 

James Wood has visited the Kunming 

Institute twice, last in 2009 to train 

the germination manager of the newly 

opened seedbank and to help with the 

development of their database. 

• Seed of 3 Tasmanian species of 

Calandrinia held in the TSCC were sent 

to the Professor in Tropical Biology 

Joseph Holtum from the James Cook 

University for a study into the shift 

from C3 to C4 photosynthesis in 

the genus.

• Cones of 3 pine species Pinus sylvestris, 

P. parvifolia and P. flexilis and pods 

of the New Zealand pea Clianthus 

puniceus were supplied to Alvin Lam 

and Dr Scott McAdam of the Biological 

Sciences Department of the University 

of Tasmania to look at auxins in the seed 

of the species. A previous study had 

found an auxin only known from the pea 

family in Pinus sylvestris but the UTAS 

study found no evidence for this.

• 2 plants of the New Caledonian species, 

Amborella trichopoda, were provided to 

Philip Cameron Senior Botanic Officer 

of the Brisbane Botanic Gardens. This 

species is of interest to researchers 

because DNA analysis consistently 

places Amborella at or near the base of 

the lineage of flowering plants.

• Leaves of the Macquarie Island 

cabbage, Stilbocarpa polaris and 

Fortune’s mahonia, Mahonia fortunei, 

were sent to Dr Roger Shivas Curator 

of the Queensland Plant Pathology 

Herbarium to investigate rusts 

on the leaves of the two species. 

The Stilbocarpa rust is possibly an 

undescribed species.

• Fungus gnats from the nursery were 

provided to Dr Andrew Manners 

Senior Entomologist Horticulture 

and Forestry Science at Agri-Science 

Queensland. Andrew was conducting 

an Australia wide survey of fungus 

gnats in horticulture, botanic gardens 

and cropping structures to undertake a 

review of the genus in Australia.

• Seed of the native pencil pine Athrotaxis 

cupressoides was provided to Edmund 

Chia of the Singapore Botanic Gardens. 

Edmund visited the Gardens in 

January 2015.

• Leaves of Roscoea purpurea were sent 

to Mani Shrestha, Adjunct Postdoc/ 

Research Assistant, Monash University 

for studies into the evolution of flowers

• Leaf and flower samples were collected 

from Agastachys ordorata and sent 

to Dr Rebecca Miller, University 

of Melbourne for research in the 

extraction of cyanide compounds 

found in Proteaceae.

• Dr Tim Brodribb, UTAS, collected cutting 

material from the RTBG Gondwanan 

Collection for research purposes.

Goal 1
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Goal 2
To promote and manage the Gardens to ensure its users have the 
opportunity to attain a quality experience of the place and its values.
The RTBG remains committed to horticultural and botanical excellence 

in its development and operations, and in the programs and services it 

provides. As part of this commitment, the RTBG offers a diverse range 

of education programs that will enrich and improve horticultural and 

botanical knowledge and the learning experience of visitors, in addition 

to providing professional and personal development opportunities for 

staff and others.

The RTBG is one of Tasmania’s leading vocational workplace providers 

in horticulture. The development of partnerships with organisations 

around the state has enhanced and broadened the RTBG programs 

without placing unrealistic staffing demands on the RTBG.
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Strategy 2.1
Achieve excellence in horticultural 
and botanical education, training 
and extension programs.

Vocational Education

The Royal Tasmanian Botanical Gardens 

continued to provide horticultural training 

through the partnership with Recognised 

Training Organisation, GlobalNet 

Academy.

In 2014 / 2015 30 students completed 

a Certificate 2 in Horticulture and the 

current Certificate 3 in Horticulture 

program will see completion for a further 

30 students in December 2015.

Schools Programs

‘24 Carrot’ School Gardens Project

Mona’s 24 Carrot Gardens Project 

establishes the ‘gold’ standard for school 

kitchen gardens partnered with fun, 

learning activities with a focus on ‘sowing 

the seeds of lifelong learning’.

 Hosted by Mona, in partnership with 

the Royal Tasmanian Botanical Gardens, 

the project is aligned with the Stephanie 

Alexander Kitchen Garden Foundation 

program. The 24 Carrot project currently 

has twelve schools participating, plus a 

sister after-school garden in the New 

Orleans neighbourhood of St. Roch.

Since the projects inception in July 2013, 

over $900,000 of donated funds have 

been partnered with school communities 

across Southern Tasmania, to develop 

garden and kitchen infrastructure and 

programs, including staff salaries.

Mona funds two dedicated Project 

Managers who coordinate the integration 

of both the garden and kitchen classes 

into the school curriculum. Each Project 

Manager coordinates a cluster of six 

school kitchen gardens, and has an integral 

role in supporting the development of the 

program working closely with school staff, 

community groups, parents and students.

In addition to seed funding of $35,000 / 

per school / per year, 24 Carrot provides 

project management, in-kind architectural 

design partnerships and coordination of all 

building and construction works.

 2015 will see the completion of all garden 

and kitchen infrastructure, allowing for the 

focus to be re-established on developing 

and implementing the 24 Carrot learning 

pathways – a series of curated workshops 

and master classes in the areas of creative 

arts, growing arts, culinary arts, science 

and sustainability.

Outcomes from the project so far include 

the employment of 12 dedicated garden 

teachers and 12 dedicated kitchen 

teachers who work 2 days a week at 

each school site. The program delivers 

curriculum aligned content to over 3,000 

primary aged students across 5 local 

government areas and actively supports 

the Department of Education’s key 

outcomes of Numeracy and Literacy.

Staff Development

Friends of the Royal Tasmanian 
Botanical Gardens Grant

In October 2014 the East Horticulture 

team travelled to Victoria to visit a number 

of private and public gardens as part of 

a professional development opportunity 

courtesy of the Friends of the Royal 

Tasmanian Botanical Gardens. The team, 

made up of Anne Griffin, Kath Saunders, 

Adam Lancaster and Jeremy Patterson 

were recipients of the 2014 Friends 

of RTBG Inc. Staff Grant. The purpose 

of the trip was to undertake a tour of 

significant Victorian gardens to further 

staff knowledge and understanding of 

amenity horticulture. The gardens visited 

were selected based on their relevance to 

the living collections that these staff are 

responsible for at RTBG.

They included Royal Botanic Gardens 

Cranbourne, the Diggers gardens at 

Heronswood and St Erth, Cloudehill 

House & Gardens, Forest Glade at 

Mt Macedon and Lambley Nursery 

and gardens. Visiting these gardens 

allowed staff members to observe a 

diverse range of garden styles, pruning 

styles, the extensive use of underplanting 

in most gardens and the use of hard 

landscaping within a landscape to enhance 

the visitor’s experience. The team also 

noted a variety of small practical aspects 

within many of the sites that will assist in 

future living collections development here 

at the RTBG.

Following their return, the East team 

shared their experiences and newfound 

knowledge with RTBG staff and members 

of the Friends of RTBG through a series 

of short informal presentations and 

publication of an article in the Friends of 

RTBG magazine Fagus.

External Seminars

Natalie Tapson and James Wood attended 

a Field Day given by Greening Australia 

highlighting the Tasmanian Midlands 

Restoration Program which aims to 

revegetate and restore 1,000 ha of 

native vegetation along waterways and 

in degraded grassy woodlands in the 

Northern Midlands

Lorraine Perrins attended a one-day 

symposium organised by the UTAS Faculty 

of Law to debate the role of “rewilding” 

and related restorative practices as a 

framework for sustaining Tasmania’s 

environment.

Margot White attended the Sprout 

Tasmania Cross Pollinate “The future 

of food in Tasmania” conference held 

at Frogmore Creek Winery on 28th 

of October. The conference gathered 

together farmers, growers, retailers, 

researchers, government, and not-

for-profits to share knowledge and 

conversations on farming, innovation, 

value-added produce, niche producers, 

marketing, food tourism and local 

food systems.

Goal 2
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Strategy 2.2
To communicate the relevance importance 
and history of the RTBG it’s programs, 
people and context through meaningful 
and valued interpretation.

Threatened Species Trail

Nursery Horticulturist Megan Marrison 

and Curator Chris Lang developed a 

Threatened Species Trail to highlight 

Threatened Species Day in September 

2014. With assistance from a number 

of RTBG staff and Friends of the RTBG 

signage was created and laid out 

throughout the Gardens Tasmanian 

flora collections.

The trail encouraged the public to seek 

out a variety of Tasmanian threatened 

plants in our collections and learn more 

about the factors influencing their 

survival in the wild. Originally envisaged 

to run a week in the lead up to and 

following the 7th of September, the trail 

proved to be so popular and received so 

much positive feedback from the visitors 

that it was extended for the entire month 

to meet the demand.

Friends of the Gardens Tours

The Friends of the Gardens volunteer 

guides act as a frontline interpretation 

program for visitors to the RTBG. During 

the 2014/2015 cruise season 37 ships 

had a Hobart stopover and many of the 

passengers visited the Gardens as part of 

their Tasmanian experience. In some cases 

up to four coach loads would arrive in a 

day from the large Princess cruise liners 

and tours have already been pre-booked 

for the 2015/2016 season. 

The Friends run tours all year round 

and the volunteer group has been 

enthusiastically coordinated by Rebecca 

Round, who retired from the role at the 

end of the financial year.

Strategy 2.3
To be a recognised deliverer of quality 
programs products and services.

Growing Your Future

Students from schools in southern 

Tasmania participated in the Growing 

Your Future program at the RTBG in 

November 2014. The event is for Grade 

8 and 9 students interested in careers 

following outdoor and environmental 

pursuits. The aim is to broaden their 

learning experiences and career choices 

by providing students with hands 

on experiences in the fields they are 

interested in. Activities at the Gardens 

included sessions on Walking with Trees, 

No Dig Gardening and 

Sowing Seeds.

WaterSense Gardening

The popular WaterSense program 

continued throughout the year. 

WaterSense is an educational series of 

live workshops, resource fact sheets and 

informative videos that have been funded 

by TasWater and developed by the Royal 

Tasmanian Botanical Gardens. Presented 

by ABC personality Tino Carnevale and 

Gardens’ expert Marcus Ragus, it is an 

excellent, informative series that is freely 

available. The series includes workshop 

resources on subjects as diverse as 

mulching in the garden, no-dig gardening, 

plant nutrition, potting mixes and creating 

your very own terrarium. Additional 

workshops will be presented in locations 

throughout Tasmania in 2015/2016.

Strategy 2.4
To position the RTBG as one of the top 
ten tourist attractions in terms of the 
number of visits and levels of awareness.

RTBG Events Program

Spring Community Festival

The Gardens were blessed with two days 

of sunshine for the Spring Community 

Festival in the first weekend of October 

2104. The Spring Festival has been 

a Tasmanian institution since 1986, 

attracting more than 15,000 visitors 

annually and it is the Gardens premiere 

community event that celebrates the 

arrival of spring and the wonderful peak 

flowering time for plants. The festival is 

also a celebration of Tasmania’s cultural 

diversity, fine food and wine, performers 

and vibrant community spirit. This was 

reflected by the inclusion of over 30 

community organisations and charities 

from the initial development stages for 

the festival through to the stalls, suppliers 

and entertainment during the weekend.

Highlights of the weekend included 

gardening gurus Peter Cundall and 

Tino Carnevale giving hands on 

demonstrations in the new Tasmanian 

Community Food Garden and TasWater 

WaterSense sessions run again by 

Tino and the RTBG’s Marcus Ragus. 

Other items of interest included skate 

demonstrations, Tasmanian Orienteering 

activities, TasOrb giant balls and activities 

run by the Play Group Association the 

Girl Guides. Entertainment was provided 

throughout the grounds by artists 

such as Cary Lewincamp and flamenco 

guitarist Paul Gerrard as well as roaming 

entertainers including jugglers, magicians 

and balloon sculptors.
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The Spring Community Festival has 

been well supported by the Friends of 

the RTBG since their inception and this 

year was no different with the Friends 

undertaking the important role of staffing 

the entrances along with a range of other 

roles over the two festival days.

RTBG Cultural Program

Aboriginal Contemporary Art Cultural 
Project: Giidanyba

The RTBG in partnership with the 

Salamanca Arts Centre hosted sculptural 

artworks during the 2015 Dark MOFO 

festival in June 2015. The project secured 

funding from the Australia Council for 

the Arts and Dark MOFO. The project 

involved the contemporary realisation 

of the Giidanyba, the spirit beings of the 

Gumbaynggirr people of northern NSW. 

The artist Tyrone Sheather, a young 

Gumbaynggirr man, had the support of his 

Elders to take the spirit beings dreaming 

into new contexts. In this instance, the 

Giidanyba were experimental humanoid 

sculptural artworks realised in fibreglass 

that ‘hover’ in the landscape on steel poles 

embedded in the ground. The sculptures 

were activated by motion sensors that 

triggered inbuilt lighting and soundscape 

effects.

The Comedy of Errors

Directions Theatre has been performing 

Shakespeare in the Gardens since 

1998. Originally formed to provide an 

opportunity for local actors and theatre 

workers to produce quality productions, 

this annual event now attracts a loyal 

following. In February 2015 Directions 

Theatre produced The Comedy of Errors 

under the direction of Ingrid Ganley. This 

is Shakespeare’s first comedy and it was 

done in Bollywood style to bring plenty 

of colour and movement to the fast and 

furious plot.

Mona Foma Tea Ceremony

Transient tea ceremonies were one of the 

features of MOFO in January 2015 with 

the Gardens providing one of the venues 

for the event. Ceremonies were held in a 

portable tatami tearoom cube where the 

art of Chado or the Japanese way of tea 

was practiced.

Sinbad the Sailor

For more than twenty years Big Monkey 

Theatre has been presenting high quality 

professional shows here in the Botanical 

Gardens and this season they staged 

Sinbad the Sailor. A great pantomime 

adventure which drew thousands of 

school children as an end of year treat and 

played to families throughout January.

Young Sinbad and his crazy friends find 

themselves lost at sea with the ill-fated 

Captain Acmash. They face starvation, 

sea monsters, smelly ogres and even 

have time to help a princess in distress. 

Presented in a bold pantomime style 

this lively production was written and 

directed by Les Winspear who also 

works in the RTBG Visitors Centre.

Community Events

Teddy Bears Picnic

The Teddy Bears Picnic held in October 

2014 was again a popular family event at 

the Gardens especially for the under fives. 

The free event organised by Play Group 

Tasmania South is part of children’s week 

celebrations and is a great way for the 

RTBG to connect with the 

next generation.

Orienteering Tasmania

The Royal Tasmanian Botanical Gardens 

were used as a venue for one of the 

events of the Southern Tasmanian 

Autumn Twilight Orienteering Series in 

March 2015. This was the first time the 

Gardens had been used for a conventional 

orienteering event with 4 different length 

courses and a maze course suitable for 

young children.

Veterans Health Week Healthy Living 
Workshop

A healthy living workshop was held at 

the Veteran’s and Families Garden Plot 

at the RTBG in October 2014. Speakers 

included ABC Gardening Australia’s 

Tino Carnevale and poultry expert 

Paul Healy. A from pot to plate cooking 

demonstration was given by Penni 

Lamprey.

Charity Functions

Easter Egg Hunt and Family Picnic

The Gardens again hosted Tasmania’s 

biggest Easter Egg Hunt to raise money 

for the Royal Hobart Hospital Research 

Foundation in April 2015. Following 

the success of last year’s event an extra 

1000 tickets were issued with ticket 

sales exceeding $26,000. With 50,000 

chocolate eggs donated by Cadbury 

for the event, attractions included the 

Cadbury Easter egg hunt, pin the tail on 

the bunny and entertainment for all by 

Exit Left Productions. The Easter Bunny 

was also on hand to give out eggs. 

Monies raised go towards medical 

research in Tasmania.

Goal 2
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Strategy 2.5
To develop the built environment to 
facilitate the experience of the Gardens

The RTBG received $200,000 over 

two financial years from the State 

Government through an Essential 

Infrastructure Funding grant with the 

work to be undertaken divided into 

two discreet projects.

Visitors Centre – Exterior 
Maintenance Works

This funding has supported a range of 

works to the exterior of the RTBG’s 

Visitor Centre to bring the facility back 

to the required standard. The works 

included re-rendering cracks to walls 

and buildings; treating all deteriorated 

metalwork and woodwork and repainting; 

removing mould from the exterior shade 

louvers; repairing the entry awning, and 

constructing a new rubbish bin holding 

site. The works were undertaken by local 

firm Tascon Constructions Pty Ltd and 

were completed at the end of April 2015.

Heritage Works

The Essential Infrastructure Funding 

grant also supported critical maintenance 

of the RTBG’s significant heritage 

structures the Arthur and Eardley-Wilmot 

Walls and the Superintendent’s Cottage. 

A Condition and Defect Assessment and 

Management Report was commissioned 

as part of the Heritage Works through 

the Oatlands Centre for Heritage in 

March 2015. This substantial report will 

be used to guide conservation work on 

the RTBG’s heritage infrastructure 

into the future.

A tender was put out for quotes for 

conservation work and the Oatlands 

Centre for Heritage were contracted 

to undertake the works starting in April 

2015. In the first tranche of work, the firm 

undertook major works to the Arthur Wall 

including recapping, brick replacement 

and an extensive area of re-pointing. 

The firm removed the concrete paths 

around the base of the Superintendent’s 

cottage and installed drains. Planning for 

the second round of works to undertake 

essential maintenance works on the 

Eardley-Wilmot Wall in 2015-16 is 

underway and work is due to commence 

in July/August 2015.

Strategy 2.6
To maintain the built environment of 
the RTBG in a manner that addresses 
requirements for basic function, safety 
and public amenity.

RTBG Restaurant

The RTBG Board approved the base 

fit out of the restaurant kitchen at 

an estimated cost of $100,000 and 

approved the completion of renovations 

to the interior of the restaurant dining 

room. The building contract firm Tascon 

Constructions Pty Ltd commenced work 

in March 2015 and the works were 

completed by the end of April.

The Kitchen base fit out included a 

renovated kiosk area to supply take 

away food and drinks. The new kitchen 

is well set up to provide efficient table 

service in the restaurant dining room and 

dining deck and has excellent capacity 

to cater for events and functions held in 

the Gardens numerous venues including 

its function rooms, Conservatory and 

Fuchsia House.

The RTBG Board sought a new operator 

for the RTBG restaurant, kiosk and 

catering services through an Expression 

of Interest process with the aim of 

a private operator taking over the 

operation of the restaurant, kiosk and 

catering services at the Gardens by 

September 2015.

Goal 2
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Goal 3
To ensure there is sufficient capacity to 
sustainably manage the RTBG.
Innovation and sustainability are recognised by 

the RTBG as guiding principles for continued 

development and growth. To ensure the RTBG is 

able to meet its responsibilities into the future 

it is essential that a clear focus is maintained on 

issues such as the financial diversification, risk 

management, human resources development and 

technological capability to guarantee the long term 

sustainability of business operations at the RTBG.
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Strategy 3.1
To ensure that the legislative requirements 
for the operations of the Gardens are 
effectively met.

Business Operations Plan

RTBG Staff worked on an update of the 

RTBG’s Business Operations Plan for the 

2015/2016 year.

Recommendations for the 
Development of the Living 
Collections

RTBG staff completed the 

Recommendations for the Development 

of the Living Collections to final draft 

stage prior to Board approval. This 

document provides the basis for the on-

going management of the RTBG’s living 

collections by outlining recommendations 

at a number of levels for the future 

development and management of every 

living collection in the Gardens. The 

document also makes recommendations 

that connect each collection to other 

facets of the Gardens operations with 

the ultimate aim of improving the visitor 

experience. The Living Collections 

Recommendations report will be used to 

help formulate yearly business operations 

plans and five yearly strategic action plans 

for the living collections.

Strategy 3.2
To ensure the funding available to the 
Gardens is adequate to realise its vision 
and mission.

Commercial Initiatives

The Friends/RTBG Plant Sales

The RTBG hosted two Friends of the 

Gardens plant sales in 2014, the ever 

popular Spring Plant Sale in September 

followed by the Super Summer Seedling 

Sale in November. The feature of the 

September sale was the over 110 varieties 

of rare and heirloom tomatoes amounting 

to a massive 6,000 plants for sale. Long 

queues formed on the day of the sale with 

buyers eager to get the first pick of the 

plants. The follow up sale in November 

featured pumpkin, zucchini, watermelons, 

capsicum and chilies amongst others. Over 

20 Friends of the Gardens volunteers 

worked tirelessly for months with RTBG 

staff to source seed, plant and nurture the 

tomatoes and other plants for sale as well 

as helping to run the stalls on sale days.

Botanical Gardens Restaurant

The RTBG Board  were approached by 

a  reputable caterer  and his Business 

Manager,  in regard to future management 

concepts and options for the RTBG 

Restaurant. The Board agreed to an 

interim agreement while the restaurant 

area and kitchen were fitted out and 

to enable negotiations on the details 

of a long term agreement. The interim 

catering company advised that they would 

not continue to operate after the Close 

of Business on 28 February 2015. The 

RTBG Board then resolved that it would 

complete the fit out of the kitchen to a 

base level and then go through a formal 

Expression of Interest (EOI) process to 

attract a private operator to manage and 

operate the Gardens restaurant, cafe 

and kiosk. Knight Frank advertised an 

EOI on 18 June, which closed on 16 July 

2015, as realtor for the Board. The EOI 

process resulted in eight responses of 

which four were shortlisted for interview 

by the selection panel comprised of two 

members of the Board, a private sector 

member experienced in the industry 

and a representative from Knight Frank, 

who also had previous experience in the 

industry. The EOI process was overseen 

by a Probity Advisor from Wise Lord 

& Ferguson. A Sub-committee of the 

Board negotiated the terms of the 

License Agreement with the owners of 

the preferred respondent with the aim 

of having the new licensee signed on by 

August 2015.

Botanical Shop

The Botanical Shop has continued to 

increase its sales and turnover from 

previous years. The shop maintained the 

focus on merchandise that reflects the 

Gardens’ core values, with grow your own 

and harvest being strong themes. With 

Tasmania enjoying increasing tourism 

numbers, the focus for the shop will be 

on developing RTBG branded Tasmanian 

made merchandise which will allow 

visitors to take away with them a reminder 

of their experience at the Gardens.

Donations

Following on from last year another major 

donation was made in the 2014/2015 

year to the joint RTBG/Mona 24 Carrot 

School Kitchen Gardens Project. The gold 

coin entry donations made by visitors at 

the entry gates form a significant part of 

the Gardens general donations and this 

was slightly higher than the previous year.

Grants and Sponsorship

The sponsorship and installation of 161 

solar panels by Nekon Pty Ltd to the 

value of $62,000 during the year will 

have a major impact on reducing power 

costs into the future. The Tasmanian 

Orchid Conservation Program at the 

RTBG gained grants from the Hermon 

Slade Foundation, the Australian Orchid 

Foundation, NRM South and NRM Cradle 

Coast, all of which contribute significantly 

to the ongoing running of the program.

Goal 3
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Case Study 3:

Living Collections 
Recommendations
RTBG staff prepared the final draft of the Recommendations for the Development of the Living 
Collection report (RDLC) for submission to the Board for approval. The RDLC references the 
directions set out in the Strategic Master Plan (SMP) and its ancillary plans (especially the Living 
Collections Plan and the Interpretation Plan) and looks wholistically at the RTBG’s Living 
Collections and the broad range of programs associated with their future development. 

The report flags a number of differently scaled projects and/or actions ranging from the functional to 
the aspirational for each precinct and collection in the RTBG. It aims to provide a methodology for 
the RTBG to progress the targets in the SMP in achievable increments.

The Recommendations for the Development of the Living Collections will be used as a guide to 
help formulate yearly business operations plans and five yearly strategic action plans for the living 
collections. The report is neither categorical nor complete, the recommendations are a guide only - 
every project arising from the recommendations needs to be reconsidered, researched and re-evaluated 
individually before being actioned.   

This RDLC report is a ‘ living’ document and will be updated regularly to reflect the changes that 
arise from its recommendations. It is a result of considerable input from individual horticultural staff 
members and the Living Collections Working Group. The final report was prepared by the Deputy 
Director of Collections and Research, the Horticultural Botanist and the Horticultural Coordinator.
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Strategy 3.3
To deliver innovative, proactive and 
sustainable business practices to support 
and enhance RTBG programs

Financial Diversification

The RTBG continues to review and 

consolidate initiatives aimed at further 

enhancing commercial revenue streams 

including the development and marketing 

of a range of Gardens retail merchandise, 

expansion of commercial learning and 

outreach programs, development of 

additional function and event hire 

spaces, further development of botanical 

consultancy services, expansions of RTBG 

Plant Sales and enhanced services aimed 

at increasing visitor donation revenue.

Strategy 3.4
To provide a safe and enriching work and 
social environment for staff stakeholders 
and visitors.

The Gardens play a vital role in the 

health and wellbeing of the community, 

providing a safe place of sanctuary and 

opportunities for visitors to relax and 

enjoy the natural environment. The RTBG 

recognises the values of its employees and 

is committed to providing a safe working 

environment and a wide range of personal 

professional development opportunities 

that will benefit the individual and the 

future organisation.

Workplace Health & Safety

The RTBG continued its involvement 

and representation on the DPIPWE 

Work Health and Safety Committee 

throughout the 2014/2015 year, 

contributing to the development of Risk 

Analysis documentation which will be 

utilised by staff members throughout the 

Department.

The RTBG Work Health and Safety 

Committee met regularly during the year 

undertaking the task of resolving health 

and safety issues. This committee provides 

a consultative forum for the discussion, 

resolution and implementation of WHS 

issues relevant to all RTBG business units.

On a bimonthly basis the committee 

undertakes workplace inspections 

throughout the RTBG estate. This involves 

committee members carrying out a visual 

inspection of the physical conditions of a 

workplace to ensure that the workplace, 

plant and facilities meet legislative and 

Departmental requirements.

Friends of the Royal Tasmanian 
Botanical Gardens

During 2014/2015 the Friends of the 

RTBG continued in their tireless efforts to 

support the Gardens, providing volunteer 

time to a diverse range of projects. This 

dedicated group of individuals assists the 

Gardens in providing a range of services 

that would otherwise not be possible. 

Each year the Friends raise funds for 

various projects, many of which could not 

go ahead without this funding.

Volunteerism

The work undertaken by the volunteers 

is invaluable to the Gardens and this 

year a total of over 9000 hours were 

volunteered. There are currently ten 

volunteer streams operating at the RTBG 

– Visitor Information Studio, Easy Access 

Tours, Tour Guiding, Friends Cottage, 

Growing Group, Education Assistance, 

Herbarium and Library, Tasmanian 

Seed Conservation Centre and Orchid 

Research Programs. Volunteers also 

provide assistance at the Spring Festival 

and ANPC Conference.

Begonia Group

This group of volunteers is led by nursery 

horticulturist Megan Marrison and its 

aim is to expand the previously small 

collection of species Begonia and create a 

collection that will provide a display in the 

Conservatory that highlights the great 

diversity of this genus. During the year, a 

founding member of the group, Mr. Peter 

Sharpe, decided to move aside to allow for 

new member involvement. Peter has been 

integral to the success of the group and 

his knowledge of begonias and enthusiasm 

for this plant group is extraordinary; we 

have benefitted immensely from having 

him on board. We are very grateful to 

have had access to Peter’s expertise while 

establishing this group and wish him all the 

best for the future.

Orchid Group

Every second Friday, members of the 

Tasmanian Orchid Society work with 

Margot White, nursery horticulturist, 

busily dividing and repotting plants, 

feeding and nurturing this wonderful 

collection of specimens as part of an 

ongoing process of maintenance and 

development. The Orchid collection is 

continually expanding and as always we 

greatly appreciate the efforts of this 

group.

Growing Group

Our volunteer Growing Group again 

contributed significantly to a very 

successful plant sales in September 

and November 2014. A large variety of 

plant material is grown each year for 

the annual sale with a particular focus 

on Heritage Tomatoes, with the group 

producing in excess of 6000 plants for 

sale. The Growing Group is also involved 

in the ongoing production and supply of 

vegetable seedlings for the Tasmanian 

Community Food Garden.

Goal 3
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Bridge to Hobart City Project: Linking 
Place and People through Coastal 
Restoration

Work on this important community 

project continued throughout the year. 

More planting took place with a total of 

200 new plants going into the ground. 

Again it was all due to the great joint 

efforts of the RTBG and City of Hobart 

staff members, along with wonderful 

participation from members of the public 

during the community planting days.

The ongoing maintenance of the area is 

carried out regularly by the RTBG Estate 

team. This work involves rubbish removal, 

watering of newly planted tubestock, 

brush cutting, and weed removal. The City 

of Hobart Bushland and Reserves unit 

undertakes a lot of the preparatory work 

for the community planting days. This 

work involves preparation of planting sites 

and supply of mulch and protective guards 

for the newly planted tubestock.

Second Bite

Second Bite continues to work in close 

partnership with the RTBG and again 

they have received over 1000 kg of 

fresh produce from the garden this year. 

Volunteers from Second Bite attend on 

a weekly basis to assist in the Tasmanian 

Community Food Garden, helping with 

harvesting of produce as well as regular 

maintenance of the vegetable crops. 

Professional Development

RTBG Staff engaged in a variety of 

professional development programs 

throughout the year. A number of staff 

were delegates at the Australian Network 

for Plant Conservation Conference 

APCC10 held in Hobart in November 

2014. The RTBG also had two separate 

registrations at the conference that staff 

interested in particular presentations 

were able to rotate through. David Reid 

and Natalie Tapson attended the Ethics 

and Integrity Training Program run by the 

Integrity Commission.

Trainees

The RTBG has a strong commitment 

towards providing quality training and 

employment to apprentices and trainees 

who in turn contribute significantly 

towards achieving the RTBG’s core goals 

and values and bring valued diversity 

to the organisation. There were three 

trainees in Business Services and one 

trainee in the Botanical Shop during the 

2014/2015 financial year.

Horticultural Apprentices

The RTBG continued its commitment to 

the training of apprentices and trainees 

in the horticulture unit. Patrick Fletcher 

successfully completed Certificate III 

Horticulture in April 2015. Following 

Patrick’s departure, Lachlan Girschik 

secured the position of nursery trainee. 

Lachlan will be working primarily in 

the nursery but will be placed with the 

outdoor horticulture teams to gain 

experience in amenity horticulture to 

broaden his plant skills and knowledge.  

Work Placements

The RTBG hosted students from the 

Friends’ School, Hobart College and 

St Virgils College during the year, as 

part of the commitment to school work 

experience programs.
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Case Study 4:

Solar Panel Project
Royal Tasmanian Botanical Gardens Major Sponsor Nekon Pty Ltd 
sponsored the purchase and installation of 161 solar panels to help reduce 
the Garden’s power costs into the future. The solar supply company 
PowerCom designed the system and took it through the approvals process 
to gain Council authority and utility approvals before installing it. 

The solar panels were placed on the roofs of the restaurant, nursery, 
staff crib rooms and the large depot building that houses the seed bank, 
supervisors’ office and maintenance workshop. The depot building roof 
holds an impressive 70 solar panels, all part of Nekon’s commitment to 
valuing environmental sustainability in its support for the Gardens.

The installation and the final commissioning were completed in early June 
2015 at a cost of $62,000. The system will deliver savings to the Gardens of 
up to $15,000 per annum on current power costs.
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Tree Sponsorship Program

Tree sponsorship continued enabling valuable ongoing work 

to prevent the spread of diseases and maintain the trees in the 

Gardens.  Exclusive sponsorship of significant trees in the Gardens 

is acknowledged with a plaque on the tree detailing the name 

of the sponsor. 

The 2013-2014 Tree sponsors were:

S Cooper, G & I Fulton $1,300 Spotted Gum

Tony James & Stephanie 

Auchincloss
$1,000 Golden Elm

Diane Matthews $1,000 Southern Magnolia

L Ayers & A Geard on behalf 

of A & H McCarthy 
$500 Dawn Redwood

Jan Tierney $500 Cork Oak  

Peter Stevenson $500 Norfolk Island Hibiscus

Total $4,800

Mixed Border – Rose Sponsorship 

Annette Rhodes $400 ‘Paul Ricault’ & ‘ Cousin Essie’

Nixon Family $250 Rosa californica

Donald and Julie Kilpatrick $200  ‘Fantin Latour’

Mark Burns $200  ‘Penelope’

Total $1050

General Sponsors

Nekon PTY LTD $62,000 Solar Panels

GC & S Durbin $5,000 Memorial Seat

Dr J Isles $4,500 Memorial Seat

Tasmanian Orchid Society $1,000 Conservatory Orchids

Tasmanian Orchid Society $1,000 Azorella Appeal

Doble Industries $550 TCFG Labels

Wendy Witham $250 General Donation

William Heap $250 General Donation

Dr Clare Roberts $200 General Donation

Dale I Herbert $200 General Donation

Tony Kappler $100 General Donation

Burnie Orchid Society Inc $100 Tasmanian Orchids

Suzanne Lewin $60 General Donation

Betty Richardson $50 Azorella Appeal

Coal River Gardening Club $50 Azorella Appeal

Total $75,310

Community Sponsorship & Grants

The Hermon Slade 

Foundation 
$26,000

Orchid Project – 

Dr Nigel Swarts 

Hobart City Council $10,909 Annual Grant

NRM South $5,000
Orchid Research – 

Dr Nigel Swarts

NRM Cradle Coast $10,000 
Orchid Research – 

Dr Nigel Swarts

Australian Orchid Foundation $14,200
Orchid Research – 

Dr Nigel Swart

Total $66,109

MONA 24 Carrot School Kitchen Gardens Project

Bruce W Neill $35,000

Total $35,000

Community Event Sponsorship

Spring Festival 2014

TasWater $6,000

PowerCom $4,500

Southern Cross $4,202

Bendigo Bank $3,300

Davies Brothers Pty Ltd $2,170

Signarama in kind

Total $20,172

Bequests and Sponsorship
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Our Supporters

The RTBG would like to acknowledge the 
generous assistance of government, industry 
and community partners who continue to 
provide invaluable financial and non-
financial support to the Gardens.

Public Donations

The RTBG recognises the importance of 

access to the Gardens to the Tasmanian 

community. The degree of ongoing 

community support is evident in the level of 

donations made at various collection points 

located throughout the RTBG and through 

sponsorship programs for roses, memorial 

seats and trees.

A significant donation this year was $62,000 

worth of solar equipment fully funded by 

Nekon and installed by PowerCom. The 

solar installation will make ongoing savings 

of up to $15,000 per annum.

Project Partnerships

In addition to the many anonymous public 

donors the RTBG also wishes to thank the 

following organisations and individuals for 

their support and collaboration with the 

following projects:

The Friends of the Royal Tasmanian 
Botanical Gardens 

The Friends of the RTBG continue to 

provide invaluable support through 

2014/2015 in areas as diverse as 

volunteerism, library donations, and financial 

support. We gratefully acknowledge the 

generous support of this dedicated group 

of individuals. Of particular significance was 

the Friends’ continued financial support 

toward the completion of the former Fuchsia 

House and a very generous donation to 

support the purchase of a new cooling unit 

for the Subantarctic Plant House.

Tasmanian Seed Conservation Centre 
(TSCC) Project  

Royal Botanic Gardens Kew, The Australian 

Seed Bank Partnership (ASBP), Tasmanian 

Herbarium (TMAG), DPIPWE: 

The RTBG wishes to recognise and thank 

our Joint Partners in this major conservation 

initiative. In particular we wish to recognise 

the contribution of RBG Kew, not just for the 

provision of initial funding for the project, but 

also for their ongoing invaluable technical 

and scientific support at every stage of 

the project. The development of the TSCC 

provides a critical “insurance policy” for 

Tasmanian flora into the future. The TSCC 

is especially grateful for the dedicated work 

of the seedbank volunteers. In 2015 the 

Montane Conifer Seed Collection Project 

was the main focus of the TSCC collecting 

season in partnership with the Natural 

Values Conservation Branch of DPIPWE.

The Native Orchid Conservation 
Program

This program is focused to conserving 

Tasmania’s rare and threatened orchids. 

Dr Nigel Swarts and Dr Magali Wright 

volunteer their time to co-manage the 

Orchid program through self-generated 

grants and sponsorship with the support of 

a dedicated team of volunteers. The Native 

Orchid Conservation Program is grateful 

to Threatened Plants Tasmania for their 

ongoing support and to NRM South for 

sponsoring Magali’s time on this project.

Hobart City Council - Annual Grant 
Program

Hobart City Council continued to provide 

valuable support both financially and in kind 

to assist various RTBG projects by way of 

its annual grant and through the aegis of our 

shared MoU.

Department of Justice - Corrective 
Services Labour and Training Program

The long-standing Corrective Services 

labour and training partnership program 

between RTBG and the Department of 

Justice continued to provide valuable 

underpinning horticultural maintenance 

support work to the Gardens, while 

providing important educational and re-

socialisation opportunities for minimum 

security inmates.

Learning and Community Engagement 
Initiatives 

The RTBG wishes to acknowledge the 

invaluable support of a diverse range of 

partners in developing and delivering 

a variety of learning and community 

engagement programs and projects 

throughout the year. These partners 

include; GlobalNet Academy, Grosvenor 

Consultants: School to Work Consultants 

to Independent Schools Tasmania, Salvation 

Army, SecondBite, ABLE Australia, Aboriginal 

Health Service, North Western Tasmania 

Tasmanian for Life Long Learning Inc., 

Tasmanian Association of Community Houses 

(TACH), Derwent Valley Community House, 

Smithton Community House, UTAs, Southern 

Coastcare Association Tasmania (SCAT), 

St Vincent de Paul, Red Cross, MONA 24 

Carrot Gardens, Rural Health Tasmania, 

Australian Veterans Association, Industry 

Link, Tasmanian Fire Service, Government 

House, Ministry of Food Australia, Urban 

Farming Tasmania, Coast Care, NRM South, 

Botanic Gardens Australia New Zealand 

(BGANZ), Tasmanian Community Fund, 

Bendigo Bank, and Tas Water.

Nursery Programs

Lomatia tasmanica – The RTBG nursery’s 

work to conserve this rare and threatened 

species through on going tissue culture 

research is supported by the School of 

Biological Sciences at UTAS.

Marketing and Events

The Gardens’ diverse events program 

would not be possible without the generous 

support of our sponsors and partners. We 

gratefully acknowledge the assistance of 

Events Tasmania, TasWater, Ashgrove, 

Tasmanian Farm, Bendigo Bank, Southern 

Waste Strategy Authority, Southern Cross 

Television, The Mercury and Sign-A -Rama. 

ANPC Conference

The RTBG would like to acknowledge 

the following sponsors of the APCC10 

conference held in November 2014 - Cradle 

Mountain Hotel, Freycinet Lodge, Maria 

Island Walk, Cape Grim Natural Water, 

The Old woolstore apartment Hotel, Baha’I 

Centre of Learning Tasmania, The Bob 

Brown Foundation, The Earth Welfare 

Foundation, Natural Area Consulting 

Management Services, Auto Rent Hertz, 

NRM South, RACT, Willie Smiths, Dobab 

Vietnamese Kitchen, Tasmanian Air 

Adventures, Breadd, Hobart Bike Hire, 

Lucaston Park, 40° South Publishing, Plants 

of Tasmania Nursery, Friends of Royal 

Tasmanian Botanical Gardens, DPIPWE, 

Business Events Tasmania, Karen Brown 

Photography, Stoney Banks Orchard.

RTBG Annual Report 201540



EXECUTIVE

Acting Director

Robert Cockerell

Deputy Director

Mark Fountain

BUSINESS 
SERVICES

Manager Business 
Services

Anne Suter

Acting Manager 
Business Services

David Hunt

Business Services 
Assistant

Christine Santi

Business Services 
Trainee

Bridgette Quinn

VISITOR SERVICES

Retail Shop 
Coordinator

Yvette Rance

Visitor Services Officer

Les Winspear 

Retail Shop Trainee

Tiffany Berry

COLLECTIONS & 
RESEARCH

Horticultural 
Coordinator

David Reid

BOTANICAL ESTATE

Team Leaders

David Marrrison 

(Northern Team) 

Anne Griffin (Eastern 

Team) 

James Young (Estate)

Curators

Chris Lang 

Lorraine Perrins

Horticulturists

David Eaves 

Adam Lancaster  

Kenneth Littler 

Megan Marrison 

Jeremy Patterson 

Kathryn Saunders 

Margot White 

Lizzy Ziegler

Estate Assistant 

Jeremy Robinson

BOTANICAL 
RESOURCES

Horticultural Botanist

Natalie Tapson

Archival Assistant

Michael Lowe

SEEDBANK

Seedbank Co-
ordinator

James Wood

PROJECTS AND 
INFRASTRUCTURE

Maintenance Co-
ordinator

Don Heazlewood

Utility Officer

Adam Lancaster

CLEANING 
SERVICES

Antony Moroni 

Stephen Ross

MARKETING & 
EVENTS 

Marketing & Events 
Officer

Ben Davidson

LEARNING & 
COMMUNITY 
ENGAGEMENT

Manager Learning 
& Community 
Engagement

Marcus Ragus

Staff List as at 30 June 2015
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Curator Tasmanian Flora - Christopher Lang

Presentations and Media

• Presentation to University of the Third Age (U3A) Cygnet on 

Royal Tasmanian Botanical Gardens’ Rare and Threatened 

Plant Programs. 

• Led a tour though the Tasmanian Native Section for Japanese 

tour group organized through the Friends of the RTBG. 

• Presentation on rare and threatened Tasmanian plant species 

to Hobart College Environmental Studies students.

• Chris Lang together with David Marrison, Lorraine Perrins and 

Megan Marrison conducted training of FRTBG volunteer guides 

for the development of guided tours for Australasian Plant 

Conservation Conference (APCC10) delegates.

• Teamed up with Anne Griffin and Horticulturist Adam Lancaster 

to provide Greening Australia with logistical support for the 

APCC restoration field trip entitled ‘Buffering and reconnecting 

native vegetation remnants across the northern midlands 

of Tasmania’.

Tasmanian Orchid Conservation Centre - Dr Nigel Swarts 
and Dr Magali Wright

Presentations and Media

• ANPC Australasian Plant Conservation Conference 10 on the 

RTBG Threatened orchid Project in Hobart in November 2014.

• Victorian Orchid Conservation Annual Meeting.

• Australian Orchid Researchers meeting in Canberra.

• Continued social media presence on Facebook and Twitter.

Publications:

Swarts, N, “The curious case of the Windswept Helmet-orchid”, 

Australian Plants, 27 (221) pp. 360-365. ISSN 0005-0008 (2014)

Lambers, H* and Shane, MW* and Laliberte, E* and Swarts, N and 

Teste, F* and Zemunik, G*, “Plant Mineral Nutrition”, Plant Life on the 

Sandplains in Southwest Australia: A Global Biodiversity Hotspot, UWA 

Publishing, H Lambers (ed), Crawley, Australia, pp. 101-128. ISBN 

9781742585642 (2014) 

Botanical Resources - Natalie Tapson

Presentations and Media

• A tour for the Friends of the Royal Tasmanian Botanical Gardens 

to discuss the location of plantings and those still present based 

on a garden walk that Superintendent John Wardman wrote in 

1914. The FRTBG then used the information to create a tour for 

the general public.

• Gill Parssey Manager of Tourism and Product Planning at 

Tourism Tasmania approached the RTBG for information on 

the plant species growing around the Octopus Tree on Mt 

Wellington for a tour discussing aboriginal use of the area 

by Trowunna Tours. Met with Tasman Langford and Sheldon 

Thomas of Trowunna Tours on Mt Wellington and provided 

information on the plant species local to the area.

• A presentation on the Azorella seed orchard titled ‘Azorella 

macquariensis: battling for survival in the subantarctic’ was given at 

the Australian Network for Plant Conservation conference held 

in Hobart in November 2014.

• David Marrison and Natalie Tapson took a field trip for delegates 

from the ANPC conference to the Central Plateau to view 

Hydro Tasmania’s Lagoon of Islands Rehabilitation project and 

the Miena cider gum.

• A talk on the development of the Azorella seed orchard on 

Macquarie Island at the annual general meeting of Threatened 

Plants Tasmania (TPT) in May 2015. 

• Provided information regarding Lomatia tasmanica to Props 

Manager for the Foxtel mini-series “The Kettering Incident”

• Interviewed by ABC News regarding the conservation work 

of the RTBG on Lomatia tasmanica.

Publications

• An article on the living collections recommendations at the 

RTBG titled 200 years of planting: a living collections plan for 

the Royal Tasmanian Botanical Gardens was published in the 

November edition of the Botanic Gardens of Australia and 

New Zealand publication The Botanic Gardener.

• Wrote an article on the Azorella seed orchard on Macquarie Island. 

For the Australian Native Plants Society Summer 2014/2015 

journal of Australian Plants.

• An article, ‘Azorella macquariensis: battling for survival in the 

subantarctic’ was published in the ANPC bulletin Australasian 

Plant Conservation in December 2014.

Representation

Australian Network For Plant Conservation Steering Committee – 

member

Presentations / Publication / Media / 
Representation
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Tasmanian Seed Conservation Centre - James Wood 

Presentations and Media

• TSCC Manager James Wood presented to talks to RTBG staff 

on Seed Banks and Seed Germination

Representation

• Australian Seed Bank Partnership – Steering Committee 

Member

Curator, Conservation Collections and Subantarctic Flora 
– Lorraine Perrins

Presentations and Media

• A tour of the RTBG collections was given to Edmund Chia the 

Plant Records Manager of the Singapore Botanic Gardens in 

October 2014. An exchange of seed of the Tasmanian pencil 

pine, Athrotaxis cupressoides, was subsequently sent to the 

Singapore Botanic Gardens.

Publications                                                                                                                                 

• Lorraine provided 3 articles titled Snapshot of the subantarctic; 

Brief introduction to the flora of Macquarie Island and The 

Subantarctic Plant House – a very cool place.

• “Subtle Strategies to Showcase Vulnerable Plants” for Botanic 

Gardens of Australia and New Zealand (BGANZ) Issue 41 

March 2015   

• Two written articles by Lorraine Perrins for the Friends of the 

RTBG Fagus Magazine. One report outlining the success of the 

APCC10 Conference and the other highlighting  issues raised 

at the UTAS ReWilding Symposium

Acting Director - Robert Cockerell FIPAA, CPA.

Representation / Memberships

• Chair-Tasmanian Dairy Industry Authority

• CPA Australia, and

• Institute of Public Administration Australia (Tasmanian Division).

Media 

• Heart FM radio interview 29-4-2015

Publications

• Welcome to Spring Community Festival - 4th and 5th October 

2014, and

• Directors Report, FAGUS - November 2014, February 2015 

and May 2015.

Nursery – Margot White & Megan Marrison

Presentations and Media

• Nursery Horticulturist Margot White gave a presentation to the 

Huon Valley Garden Club 

• Margot White conducted a tour of the Tasmanian Native 

Collection and Nursery for 12 Agriculture and Natural 

Resources students from The University of Nebraska on Dec 

29th. The RTBG was one of a number of locations across the 

state that the students visited with their host, Professor 

Paul Reid (Horticulture/Viticulture UTAS) to expand their 

knowledge about crops, landscapes, natural sites of interest 

and tourist activities.

• Nursery Horticulturist Megan Marrison gave a presentation 

on the genus Cyclamen to the Coal River Valley Garden Club.

• Megan Marrison and Natalie Tapson gave a tour of the Nursery 

southern conifer collection to Dr Christopher Earle, editor of 

the Gymnosperm Database. He was particularly impressed 

with the range of southern hemisphere conifers that the RTBG 

held in the potted Gondwana collection, seeing some of the 

New Caledonian species for the first time. The Gymnosperm 

Database website is a scientifically based source of information 

on the classification and ecology of conifers and their allies and 

is frequently accessed by RTBG staff.

Deputy Director - Mark Fountain

Presentations to special interest groups business and industry.

Representation

• Council of Heads of Australian Botanical Gardens

• Botanic Gardens Australia and New Zealand - Editorial 

Committee

• Queens Domain Advisory Committee - member

• Tasmanian Flora Advisory Network - member

• Australian Cultivar Registration Authority - member

• 24 Carrot Schools Garden Program - Steering Committee 

member
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
 
To Members of the Tasmanian Parliament 
 
Royal Tasmanian Botanical Gardens 
 
Financial Report for the Year Ended 30 June 2015 
 
Report on the Financial Report 
 
I have audited the accompanying financial report of the Royal Tasmanian Botanical Gardens (the 
Authority), which comprises the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2015 and the statements 
of comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year ended on that date, a summary 
of significant accounting policies, other explanatory notes and the statement of compliance by the 
Chairman of the Authority. 
 
Auditor’s Opinion 
 
In my opinion the Authority’s financial report: 

(a) presents fairly, in all material respects, its financial position as at 30 June 2015, and its 
financial performance, cash flows and changes in equity for the year then ended 

(b) is in accordance with the Royal Tasmanian Botanical Gardens Act 2002 and Australian 
Accounting Standards. 

 
The Responsibility of the Directors for the Financial Report 
 
The Directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and Section 16 of Royal Tasmanian Botanical Gardens 
Act 2002. This responsibility includes establishing and maintaining internal controls relevant to the 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial report that is free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making 
accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.  
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
 
My responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based upon my audit.  My audit was 
conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. These Auditing Standards require that I 
comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the 
audit to obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the financial report is free of material misstatement.   
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial report. The procedures selected depend on my judgement, including the assessment of 
risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error.  In making those 
risk assessments, I considered internal control relevant to the Authority’s preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial report in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate to the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Authority’s 
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and 
the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Authority, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial report.  
 
I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion. 
 
My audit is not designed to provide assurance on the accuracy and appropriateness of the budget 
information in the Commission’s financial report. 
 
Independence 
 
In conducting this audit, I have complied with the independence requirements of Australian Auditing 
Standards and other relevant ethical requirements. The Audit Act 2008 further promotes independence 
by: 

 providing that only Parliament, and not the executive government, can remove an Auditor-
General 

 mandating the Auditor-General as auditor of State Entities but precluding the provision of 
non-audit services, thus ensuring the Auditor-General and the Tasmanian Audit Office are not 
compromised in their role by the possibility of losing clients or income.  

 
 
Tasmanian Audit Office 
 

 
 
E R De Santi 
Deputy Auditor-General 
Delegate of the Auditor-General 
 
Hobart 
7 October 2015 
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Statement of Comprehensive Income 
for the Year Ended 30 June 2015

2015 2015 2014

 Budget  Actual  Actual 

Note  $  $  $ 

Revenue and other income from transactions

Grants  2,726,000  2,726,000  2,704,000 

Sales of goods and services  1,505,000  705,846  1,573,351 

Interest  75,000  25,055  81,202 

Other Revenue  295,000  500,935  840,920 

Total revenue and other income from transactions  4,601,000  3,957,836  5,199,473 

Expenses from transactions

Employee Benefits 2,989,000 2,349,531 2,473,666 

Depreciation and amortisation 429,000 302,523 303,125 

Supplies and consumables 1,398,000 1,530,573 2,098,947 

Total Expenses from transactions 4,816,000 4,182,627 4,875,738 

Net result from transactions (net operating balance) (215,000) (224,791) 323,735 

Other econimic flows included in net result

Net gain/(loss) on non-financial assets 10,000 - - 

Changes in Asset Revaluation Reserve 7b - 658,275 (1,626,481)

Comprehensive Result (205,000) 433,484 (1,302,746)

 

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Statement of Financial 
Position as at 30 June 2015

2015 2015 2014

Budget  Actual  Actual 

Note  $  $  $ 

Assests

Financial Assets

Cash and Deposit 10 1,007,000 841,700 1,274,167 

Receivables 4 99,000 16,729 49,742 

1,106,000 858,429 1,323,909 

Non-financial Assets

Inventories 5 117,000 71,429 111,495 

Property, infrastructure and equipment 7 10,966,000 10,683,363 9,998,166 

11,083,000 10,754,792 10,109,661 

Total assets 12,189,000 11,613,221 11,433,570 

Liabilities

Payables 8 152,000 84,226 202,289 

Employee benefits 9 422,000 513,213 648,983 

Other liabilities 51,000 - -

Total liabilities 625,000 597,439 851,272 

Net assets (liabilities) 11,564,000 11,015,782 10,582,298 

Equity

Reserves 19 11,863,000 10,895,256 10,236,981 

Accumulated funds (299,000) 120,526 345,317 

Total equity 11,564,000 11,015,782 10,582,298 

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Cash Flows 
for the Year Ended 30 June 2015

2015 2015 2014

Budget  Actual  Actual 

Note  $  $  $ 

Cash Flow from Operating Activities

Cash inflows

Grants  2,726,000 2,941,213 2,991,390 

Sales of goods and services  1,503,000 738,596 1,624,555 

GST receipts  150,000 125,020 162,515 

Interest received  75,000 25,318 80,703 

Other cash receipts  303,000 285,722 553,530 

 4,757,000 4,115,869 5,412,693 

Cash outflows

Employee benefits  (2,989,000) (2,513,643)  (2,382,432)

GST payments  (142,000) (171,749) (185,626)

Supplies and Consumables  (1,396,000) (1,533,499) (2,089,516)

Total cash outflows  (4,527,000) (4,218,891) (4,657,574)

Net cash from (used by) operating activities 17  230,000 (103,022) 755,119 

Cash flows from investing activities 

Payments for acquisition of non-financial assets  (55,000) (329,445) (198,252)

Proceeds from the disposal of non-financial assets  15,000 - - 

Net cash from (used by) investing activities  (40,000) (329,445) (198,252)

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents held  190,000 (432,467) 556,867 

Cash and deposits at the beginning of the reporting period  817,000 1,274,167 717,300 

Cash and deposits at the end of the reporting period 10  1,007,000 841,700 1,274,167 

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Changes in Equity 
for the Year Ended 30 June 2015

Note  Retained Earnings  Asset Revaluation Reserve  Total 

 $  $  $ 

Balance at 30 June 2013  21,582  11,863,462  11,885,044 

Changes:

Total Comprehensive Result  323,735 (1,626,481) (1,302,746)

Balance at 30 June 2014 19  345,317  10,236,981  10,582,298 

Changes:

Total Comprehensive Result (224,791)  658,275  433,484 

Balance at 30 June 2015 19  120,526  10,895,256  11,015,782 

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
1 Statement of Significant Accounting Policies

The following explains the significant accounting policies that have 

been adopted in the preparation of the financial report of the Royal 

Tasmanian Botanical Gardens (‘RTBG’).

Objectives and Funding

The Royal Tasmanian Botanical Gardens (RTBG) is a State 

Government statutory organisation, governed by the Royal 

Tasmanian Botanical Gardens Act 2002 and is administered 

by the Department of Primary Industry, Parks, Water and the 

Environment (DPIPWE).  The seven-member RTBG Board is 

appointed by, and reports to, the Minister for  Environment, Parks 

and Heritage.  The Board is responsible for managing, conserving 

and enhancing the Royal Tasmanian Botanical Gardens in 

accordance with the Act.

The RTBG is Tasmania’s only botanical gardens and is custodian 

of the state’s botanical collections. In addition to responsibility for 

the management of Tasmania’s botanical collections and associated 

functions, the Gardens is responsible for the development and 

delivery of horticultural and botanical based community education 

and learning programmes, the provision of visitor facilities and 

services, the development and delivery of innovative and engaging 

interpretation and information services, and the conservation and 

presentation of the significant built and cultural heritage of the site 

in accordance with the RTBG Strategic Master Plan 2009-2029.  

An annual appropriation is received through DPIPWE accounting 

for 59% of the Garden’s income in 2015, with the remaining funds 

being generated through RTBG programs and initiatives.

Basis of Accounting

The financial statements are a general purpose financial report 

and have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of 

the Royal Tasmanian Botanical Gardens Act 2002, and Australian 

Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian 

Accounting Standards Board (AASB).

The financial report has also been prepared on an accruals basis 

and is based on historical costs modified by the revaluation of 

selected non-current assets, financial assets and financial liabilities 

for which the fair value basis of accounting has been applied. 

Compliance with the Australian Accounting Standards (AAS) may 

not result in compliance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards, as the AAS include requirements and options available 

to not-for-profit organisations that are inconsistent with IFRS.  The 

RTBG is considered to be not-for-profit and has adopted some 

accounting policies under the AAS that do not comply with IFRS.

The Financial Statements have been prepared as a going concern. 

The continued existence of the RTBG in its present form, 

undertaking its current activities, is dependent on Government 

policy and on continuing appropriations by Parliament for the 

RTBG’s administration and activities.

These Financial Statements are presented in Australian dollars, 

which is the RTBG’s functional currency. 

The following is a summary of the material accounting policies 

adopted by the RTBG in the preparation of the financial 

statements.  The accounting policies have been consistently 

applied, unless otherwise stated.

Adoption of New and Revised Accounting Standards

Impact of new and revised Accounting Standards yet to be applied

The AASB has issued a number of new and amended Accounting 

Standards and Interpretations that have mandatory application 

dates for future reporting periods, some of which are relevant to 

the entity. The entity has decided not to early adopt any of the new 

and amended pronouncements. The entity’s assessment of the new 

and amended pronouncements that are relevant but applicable in 

future reporting periods is set out below:

• AASB 9: Financial Instruments and associated Amending 

Standards (applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on 

or after 1 January 2018).  The potential financial impact of the 

standard has not yet been determined.

• AASB 15: Revenue from Contracts with Customers (applicable 

to annual reporting periods commencing on or after 1 January 

2017). The potential financial impact of the standard has not yet 

been determined.

• AASB 1055: Budgetary reporting will be included in the 

Financial Statements from 2015. The statement format will 

reflect the simplified format of the published budget figures

Changes in Accounting Policies

The RTBG has adopted all of the new and revised accounting 

standards and interpretations issued by the Accounting Standards 

Board that are relevant to its operations and are effective for the 

current annual reporting period.

New and revised accounting standards adopted this year.

The following standards have been adopted this year:

·      AASB 1055 Budgetary Reporting - The objective of this standard 

is to specify budgetary disclosure requirements for the whole of 

Government, General Government Sector (GGS) and not-for-

profit entities within the GGS of each Government. Disclosures 

made in accordance with this standard provide users with 

information relevant to assessing performance of an entity, 

including accountability for resources entrusted to it.  There is 

no financial impact.
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·      2013-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – 

Conceptual Framework, Materiality and Financial Instruments 

(Operative dates: Part A Conceptual Framework – 20 December 

2013; Part B Materiality – 1 January 2014; Part C Financial 

Instruments – 1 January 2015) - The objective of this Standard 

is to make amendments to the standards and interpretations 

listed in the Appendix of this Standard.

·      as a consequence of the issue of Accounting Framework 

AASB CF 2013-1 Amendments to the Australian Conceptual 

Framework, and editorial corrections, as set out in Part A of this 

Standard; 

·      to delete references to AASB 1031 Materiality in other 

Australian accounting standards. 

There is no financial impact. 

The following applicable Standards have been issued by 
the AASB and are yet to be applied:

·      AASB 9 Financial Instruments – This Standard supersedes AASB 

139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, 

introducing a number of changes to accounting treatments.  

The Standard was issued in December 2010. The Standard was 

reissued in August 2011 and is available from 1 January 2017 

for application by not-for-profit entities. It is not expected to 

have a financial impact.

·      AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers – The objective 

of this Standard is to establish the principles that an entity 

shall apply to report useful information to users of financial 

statements about the nature, amount, timing, an uncertainty of 

revenue and cash flows arising from a contract with a customer. 

This Standard applies to annual reporting periods beginning on 

or after 1 January 2017. Where an entity applies the Standard 

to an earlier annual reporting period, it shall disclose that fact. 

There is no financial impact.

·      2015-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising 

from the withdrawal of AASB 1031 Materiality.  The objective 

of this standard is to effect the withdrawal of AASB 1031 

Materiality and to delete references to AASB 1031 in the 

Australian accounting standards, as set out in paragraph 13 of 

this standard.

·      AASB 2015-6 - Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 

– Extending Related Party Disclosures to not-for-profit Public 

Sector Entities was issued in March 2015. This standard makes 

amendments to AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures to extend 

the scope of that standard to include not-for-profit public sector 

entities and applies to annual reporting periods beginning on or 

after 1 July 2016. There is no financial impact.  The RTBG will 

be required to disclose executive and directors remuneration, 

including comparative information for the first time in 2016-17.

Accounting Policies

(a) Income Tax

The RTBG is exempt from all forms of taxation except Fringe 

Benefits Tax and Goods and Services Tax.

(b) Property, Infrastructure and Equipment

Plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated 

depreciation and impairment losses. Cost includes expenditure 

that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the item. The 

costs of self constructed assets includes the cost of materials and 

direct labour, any other costs directly attributable to bringing the 

asset to a working condition for its intended use, and the costs 

of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on 

which they are located. Purchased software that is integral to 

the functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as part 

of that equipment. In the event that settlement of all or part of 

the purchase consideration is deferred, cost is determined by 

discounting the amounts payable in the future to their present 

value as at the date of acquisition.  Depreciation is provided on 

property, plant and equipment, including freehold buildings but 

excluding land. Depreciation is calculated on a straight line basis so 

as to write off the net cost or other revalued amount of each asset 

over its expected useful life to its estimated residual value. The 

estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method is 

reviewed at the end of each annual reporting period. 

The depreciation rates used for each class of asset are:

Class of Fixed Asset  Depreciation Rate 

Vehicles 10%

Computers 33%

Plant and Equipment 20%-33%

Shop Fittings 25%

Roads & Paths 4%

Walls 1%

Fences & Gates 4%

Buildings 2.5%

Discovery Centre Interpretation 20%

Pergolas and Gardens Features 4%

Ponds and Water Features 4%

Water Services & Irrigation 6.67%

Stormwater 3%

Sewer 3%

Utility Services Infrastructure 4%

Asset Recognition Threshold

The asset capitalisation threshold adopted by RTBG is $10 000 plus 

any other assets where it is considered appropriate. Asset valued at 

less than $10 000 are charged to the Statement of Comprehensive 

Income in the year of purchase (other than where they form part of 

a group of similar items which are significant in total).
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(c) Revaluation of Property and Infrastructure

Valuation Basis

All assets, with the exception of plant & equipment and computers 

are measured on the fair value basis.  Fair value is determined 

on the basis of  an independent valuation prepared by external 

valuation experts.  The fair values are recognised in the financial 

statements of the entity, and are reviewed at the end of each 

reporting period to ensure that the carrying value of land and 

buildings is not materially different from their fair values.

Revaluation increments and decrements arising from recognising 

land and buildings at their fair values are offset against one another 

within the class of assets.  Net revaluation increments in the 

carrying amounts of land and buildings are recognised directly 

in the asset revaluation reserve, except to the extent that the 

increment reverses a decrement that was previously recognised as 

an expense in the net profit or loss in respect of the same class of 

assets, in which case the increment is recognised as revenue in net 

profit or loss.  Net revaluation decrements in the carrying amounts 

of land and buildings are recognised as an expense in profit or 

loss, except to the extent that the decrement reverses a previous 

revaluation increment in respect of the same class of assets 

credited directly to the asset revaluation reserve, in which case the 

decrement is debited directly to reserve to the extent that a credit 

exists in respect of the same class of assets. 

All other non-current physical assets are recorded at historic cost 

less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. 

RTBG adopted a revaluation threshold of $1 000. Assets are 

revalued on a rolling program of five years. In accordance with 

AASB116 Property Plant and Equipment, in years between 

valuations, indices will be supplied by qualified valuers to index 

valuations to fair value. The revaluation cycle will continue with 

infrastructure assets to be valued next financial year. Assets are 

revalued with sufficient regularity to ensure they reflect fair value 

at balance date.

(d) Employee Benefits

Employee benefits include entitlements to wages and salaries, 

annual leave, sick leave, long service leave, superannuation and any 

other post-employment benefits.

Liabilities for wages and salaries and annual leave are recognised 

when an employee becomes entitled to receive a benefit.  Those 

liabilites eligible to be taken within twelve months are measured 

as the amount expected to be paid. Other employee benefits are 

measured as the present value of the benefit at 30 June 2013, 

where the impact of discounting is material, and the amount 

expected to be paid is not material. A liability for long service leave 

is recognised, and is measured as the present value of expected 

future payments to be made in respect of services provided by 

employees up to the reporting date. 

Sick leave entitlements are not vested in employees and are not 

considered to give rise to a liability therefore no provision is made.

Superannuation contributions are made by RTBG to various 

complying superannuation funds and are charged as expenses when 

incurred.  Contributions made on behalf of employees appointed on 

or after 15th May 1999 are made in accordance with Public Sector 

Superannuation Reform Act 1999.

(e) Cash

For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash includes Cash 

on Hand, Cash at Bank and short term deposits of 6 months or less.

(f) Revenue and Expenses

Revenue from government, whether recurrent or capital, are 

recognised as revenues in the period in which the RTBG gains 

control of the appropriated funds.  Grants payable by the 

Government are recognised as revenue when the RTBG gains 

control of the underlying assets.  Where grants are reciprocal, 

revenue is recognised as performance occurs under the grant. 

Non-reciprocal grants are recognised as revenue when the grant 

is received or receivable.  Conditional grants may be reciprocal or 

non-reciprocal depending on the terms of the grant.

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the significant 

risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the buyer.  

Revenue from the provision of services is recognised upon the 

delivery of the service to customers.

Interest revenue is recognised on an accrual basis taking into 

account the interest rates applicable to the financial assets.

Expenses are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive 

Income when a decrease in future economic benefits related to a 

decrease in asset or an increase of a liability has arisen that can be 

measured reliably.

(g) Goods and Services Tax (GST)

Revenue, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount 

of Goods and Services Tax, except where the GST incurred is not 

recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office. Receivables and 

payables are stated inclusive of GST. The net amount recoverable, 

or payable, to the Australian Taxation Office is recognised as an 

asset or liability within the Statement of Financial Position.

In the Statement of Cash Flows, the GST component of cash flows 

arising from operating, investing or financing activities which is 

recoverable from, or payable to, the Australian Taxation Office is, in 

accordance with the Australian Accounting Standards, classified as 

operating cash flows.

(h) Payables

Payables, including goods received and services incurred but not 

yet invoiced, are recognised at amortised cost, which due to the 

short settlement period, equates to face value, when the RTBG 

becomes obliged to make future payments as a result of a purchase 

of assets or services.
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(i) Receivables

Receivables are recognised at amortised cost, less any impairment 

losses, however, due to the short settlement period, receivables are 

not discounted back to their present value. 

(j) Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

(k) Disposal of Non-Current Assets

Gains or losses from the sale of non-current assets are recognised 

when control of the assets has passed to the buyer.

(l) Comparative Figures

Where required by Accounting Standards, comparative figures 

have been adjusted to conform with changes in presentation for 

the current financial year.

(m) Impairment of Assets

All non-financial assets are assessed to determine whether any 

impairment exists. Impairment exists when the recoverable 

amount of an asset is less than its carrying amount.  Recoverable 

amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in 

use.  The RTBG’s assets are not used for the purpose of generating 

cash flows; therefore value in use is based on depreciated 

replacement cost where the asset would be replaced if deprived 

of it. All impairment losses are recognised in Statement of 

Comprehensive Income. In respect of other assets, impairment 

losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at each reporting 

date for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer 

exists.  An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change 

in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount.  An 

impairment loss is reversed only to the extend that the asset’s 

carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would 

have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no 

impairment loss had been recognised.   

(n) Judgements and Assumptions

In the application of Australian Accounting Standards, the RTBG 

is required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about 

carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent 

from other sources.  The estimates and associated assumptions are 

based on historical experience and various other factors that are 

believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of 

which form the basis of making the judgements.  Actual results may 

differ from these estimates.  The estimates and assumptions are 

reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Revisions to accounting estimates 

are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if 

the revision affects only that period or in the period of revision 

and future periods if the revision affects both current and future 

periods.  Judgements made by the RTBG that have significant 

effects on the Financial Statements are disclosed in the relevant 

notes to the Financial Statements.  This includes Note 1d for 

Employee Benefits.The RTBG has made no assumptions concerning 

the future that may cause a material adjustment to the carrying 

amounts of assets and liabilities within the next reporting period.

2015 

$

2014 

$

2 Remuneration and Retirement Benefits of Board

 (a) Board Remuneration 

Fees paid or payable to all Board 

members 
 7,523  3,633 

Salary Band $10,000 and above – –

Salary Band $0 to $9,999 2  1 

The names of Board members who have held office during the 

financial year are:

 Mr D Bugg (Chair) 

 Mr J Whittington (Secretary 

DPIPWE) 

 Mr S Gadd 

 Mr R Viney 

 Mr D Davey 

 Ms N McKibben (resigned 31/12/14) 

In 2014-15 only two board members elected to be paid their 

remuneration.

(b) Retirement and Superannuation 
Payments 

 715  218 

Other Related Party Transactions

There have been no related party transactions during the year, 

other than the disclosures relating to Board Remuneration above.

3 Auditor’s Remuneration

The total of fees paid or due and payable to the Auditor-General 

for the financial year, is as follows:

Fees for Audit  12,450  12,450 

 12,450  12,020 

4 Receivables

CURRENT: 

Trade Debtors  15,677  48,426 

Interest Due  1,052  1,316 

GST Refund – –

 16,729  49,742 

Less: – –

Provision for Impairment  16,729  49,742 

The RTBG offers 30 days terms of trade and receivables that are 

neither past due nor impaired are considered to be of sound credit 

quality. 
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2015 

$

2014 

$

5 Inventories

CURRENT: 

Retail stock–at cost  71,429  101,045 

Restaurant stock–at cost  -  10,450 

 71,429  111,495 

6 Other Assets

CURRENT:

Prepayments – –

– –

7 Property, Infrastructure and Equipment 

 Land at Fair Value: 

 Valuer-General's Valuation  1,852,745  1,852,745 

 Revaluation 2012  (124,134)  (124,134)

 Revaluation 2015  188,889  - 

 1,917,500  1,728,611 

Buildings at: 

Revaluation June 2015  5,325,498  4,787,137 

Less Accumulated Depreciation  -  - 

 5,325,498  4,787,137 

Roads/Paths at: 

Revaluation June 2015  929,452  946,294 

Less Accumulated Depreciation  -  - 

 929,452  946,294 

Walls at: 

Revaluation June 2015  814,007  810,275 

Less Accumulated Depreciation  -  - 

 814,007  810,275 

Fences/Gates at: 

Revaluation June 2015  225,014  225,081 

Less Accumulated Depreciation  -  - 

 225,014  225,081 

Pergolas/Garden Elements at: 

Revaluation June 2015  230,731  214,644 

Less Accumulated Depreciation  -  - 

 230,731  214,644 

Ponds/Water Features at: 

Revaluation June 2015  371,411  371,955 

Less Accumulated Depreciation  -  - 

 371,411  371,955 

Water Services/Irrigation at: 

Revaluation June 20145  201,992  304,542 

Less Accumulated Depreciation  -  - 

 201,992  304,542 

2015 

$

2014 

$

Stormwater at: 

Revaluation June 2015  96,031  98,556 

Less Accumulated Depreciation             -  - 

 96,031  98,556 

Sewer at: 

Revaluation June 2015  249,376  255,934 

Less Accumulated Depreciation             -  - 

 249,376  255,934 

Utility Services Infrastructure at: 

Revaluation June 2015  214,532  176,193 

Less Accumulated Depreciation             -  (18,848)

 214,532  157,345 

Plant and Equipment at Cost  774,920  723,447 

Less Accumulated Depreciation  (671,120)  (633,430)

 103,800  90,017 

Computers  97,880  97,880 

Less Accumulated Depreciation  (93,861)  (90,105)

 4,019  7,775 

Total Property, Infrastructure & 

Equipment
 10,683,363  9,998,166 

 

Land was revalued as at 30 June 2011 by the Valuer General. 

Bulidings were revalued as at 30 June 2013 by a qualifed valuer, 

Campbell Palfrey and indexed to 30 June 2015. Roads/paths, walls 

and fences/gates, pergolas/garden elements, ponds/water features, 

sewer, stormwater, water services/irrigation and utility services 

infrastructure were also revalued as at 30 June 2015 by a qualified 

valuer, Campbell Palfrey.   

Fair Value Hierarchy 

Fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based 

on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements 

are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value 

measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

 Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets 

for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the 

measurement date;

 Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within 

Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly 

or indirectly; and

Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

There have been no transfers between levels during the current year. 
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(a) Measurement of Fair Value

Asset 

Fair Value as 

at 30 June 

2015 ($) 

Fair Value as 

at 30 June 

2014 ($) 

Fair Value 

Hierarchy 

Valuation Technique 

& Key Inputs 

Significant 

Unobservable Inputs 

Relationship of 

Unobservable Inputs to 

Fair Value 

Land  1,917,500  1,728,611  Level 3 
 Specialist Advice & 

Indexation  
 Index rate 

 Higher rates lead to 

higher fair value 

Buildings  5,325,498  4,787,139  Level 3 
 Specialist Advice & 

Indexation  

 Useful Life: 30-250 

yrs Index Rate: 7% 

 Higher rates & useful lives 

lead to higher fair value 

Roads/Paths  929,452  946,293  Level 3 
 Specialist Advice & 

Indexation  

 Useful Life: 30-75 yrs 

Index Rate: 2.48% 

 Higher rates & useful lives 

lead to higher fair value 

Walls  814,007  810,275  Level 3 
 Specialist Advice & 

Indexation  

 Useful Life: 20-500 

yrs Index Rate: 2.48% 

 Higher rates & useful lives 

lead to higher fair value 

Fences/Gates  225,014  225,081  Level 3 
 Specialist Advice & 

Indexation  

 Useful Life: 40-500 

yrs Index Rate: 2.48% 

 Higher rates & useful lives 

lead to higher fair value 

Pergolas/Garden 

Elements 
 230,731  214,644  Level 3 

 Specialist Advice & 

Indexation  

 Useful Life: 20-100 

yrs Index Rate: 2.48% 

 Higher rates & useful lives 

lead to higher fair value 

Ponds/Water 

Features 
 371,411  371,955  Level 3 

 Specialist Advice & 

Indexation  

 Useful Life: 50 yrs 

Index Rate: 2.48% 

 Higher rates & useful lives 

lead to higher fair value 

Water Services/

Irrigation 
 201,992  304,542  Level 3 

 Specialist Advice & 

Indexation  
 Useful Life: 25-80 yrs  

 Higher rates & useful lives 

lead to higher fair value 

Stormwater  96,031  98,556  Level 3 
 Specialist Advice & 

Indexation  

 Useful Life: 50-100 

yrs Index Rate: 2.48% 

 Higher rates & useful lives 

lead to higher fair value 

Sewer  249,376  255,934  Level 3 
 Specialist Advice & 

Indexation  

 Useful Life: 100 yrs 

Index Rate: 2.48% 

 Higher rates & useful lives 

lead to higher fair value 

Utility Services 

Infrastructure 
 214,532  157,345  Level 3 

 Specialist Advice & 

Indexation  
 Index Rate 2.48% 

 Higher rates & useful lives 

lead to higher fair value 
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(b) Fair Value Reconciliation

Movement in the carrying amounts for each class of asset between the beginning and the end of the current financial year.

2015 Balance at 

beginning of 

year 

Additions & 

Acquisitions Disposals 

Revaluation 

Increment/ 

(Decrement

Depreciation 

Expense Impairment 

Carrying 

Amount at end 

of year 

Land  1,728,611  -  -  188,889  -  -  1,917,500 

Buildings  4,787,139  220,784  -  439,774  (122,199)  -  5,325,498 

Roads/Paths  946,293  -  -  40,138  (56,979)  -  929,452 

Walls  810,275  -  -  19,111  (15,379)  -  814,007 

Fences/Gates  225,081  -  -  6,608  (6,676)  -  225,013 

Pergolas/Garden Elements  214,644  -  -  32,441  (16,354)  -  230,731 

Ponds/Water Features  371,955  -  -  20,458  (21,002)  -  371,411 

Water Services/Irrigation  304,542  -  -  (96,794)  (5,756)  -  201,992 

Stormwater  98,556  -  -  2,176  (4,701)  -  96,031 

Sewer  255,934  -  -  (1,274)  (5,284)  -  249,376 

Utility Services Infrastructure  157,345  57,187  -  6,748  (6,748)  -  214,532 

Plant & Equipment  90,015  51,474  -  -  (37,689)  -  103,800 

Computers  7,776  -  -  -  (3,756)  -  4,020 

 9,998,166  329,445  -  658,275  (302,523)  -  10,683,363 

2014 

Land  1,728,611  -  -  -  -  -  1,728,611 

Buildings  4,549,593  -  -  354,605  (117,059)  -  4,787,139 

Roads/Paths  1,364,160  -  -  (360,888)  (56,979)  -  946,293 

Walls  1,645,569  65,601  -  (885,516)  (15,379)  -  810,275 

Fences/Gates  334,845  65,601  -  (168,756)  (6,609)  -  225,081 

Pergolas/Garden Elements  342,949  -  -  (117,175)  (11,130)  -  214,644 

Ponds/Water Features  647,113  -  -  (254,156)  (21,002)  -  371,955 

Water Services/Irrigation  353,997  -  -  (37,718)  (11,737)  -  304,542 

Stormwater  99,040  -  -  4,217  (4,701)  -  98,556 

Sewer  422,309  -  -  (161,091)  (5,284)  -  255,934 

Utility Services Infrastructure  134,093  30,000  -  -  (6,748)  -  157,345 

Plant & Equipment  104,855  29,056  -  -  (43,896)  -  90,015 

Computers  2,389  7,988  -  -  (2,601)  -  7,776 

 11,729,523  198,246  -  (1,626,478)  (303,125)  -  9,998,166 
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2015 

$

2014 

$

8 Trade and Other Payables

Trade Creditors  20,997  78,601 

Accrued Expenses  24,205  39,928 

Payroll Accruals  74,521  72,528 

GST Payable/

(Receivable) on June 

2015 BAS

 (35,497)  11,232 

TOTAL  84,226  202,289 

  

2015 

$

2014 

$

9 Provisions

CURRENT

Annual Leave  159,005  245,285 

Long Service Leave  228,229  211,059 

TOTAL  387,234  456,344 

NON-CURRENT

Annual Leave  125,979  - 

Long Service Leave  125,979  192,639 

TOTAL  192,639 

TOTAL LEAVE PROVISIONS  513,213  648,983 

10 Cash

Reconciliation of Cash

Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the Statement 

of Cash Flows is reconciled to items in the Statement of Financial 

Position as follows:

2015 

$

2014 

$

Cash on Hand  2,940  5,300 

Cash at Bank  485,076  621,086 

Cash at Bank - 24 Carrot School 

Gardens Project 

 179,655  333,604 

Term Deposits  174,029  314,177 

 841,700  1,274,167 

11 Segment Information 

The entity operates principally in one industry segment being the 

management of all functions particular to the operations of a botanic 

gardens wholly within the State of Tasmania.

12 Grant and Bequest Commitments 

These items have been included in the Statement of Comprehensive 

Income in the relevant years the grants were received.  The grant 

monies are spent as specified in the appropriate grant deed and this 

is not necessarily within the year the money is received.

The items mentioned below are the unspent proportion for this 

financial year.

2015 

$

2014 

$

Bequest  5,331  109,467 

Ruby Tung Yep Bequest  174,029  204,710 

Feeding the Future  18,059  36,372 

NRM Grant  285  285 

Seed Orchard Project  1,322  1,322 

Australian Orchard Foundation  12,229  5,802 

Inspiring Australia Grant  58  8,327 

Phytopthora cinnamomi Project  -  12,470 

MSB Miena Cider Gum Project  -  4,706 

Growing Orchids Project  63  2,000 

Hermon Slade Foundation Grant  45,479  30,079 

Living Learning Centre  305,249  390,190 

IT Equipment  2,473  10,060 

Foreshore Revegetation Project  3,228  3,228 

Agrifood Skill Sets Project  -  2,500 

ASBP Field Work Grant  6,043  2,670 

Solar Installation Project  5,813  - 

Natural Area Orchid Project  5,000  - 

24 Carrot Schools Gardens Projet  149,718  319,175 

TOTAL  734,379  1,143,363 

2015 

$

2014 

$

13 Operating Lease Commitments

Not later than 1 year  11,320  49,919 

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 

years 

 750  11,880 

Later than 5 years  -  - 

Total Lease Commitments  12,070  61,799 

The operating lease commitments include electric vehicles, 

machinery and office equipment leases. All amounts are shown 

exclusive of GST. The RTBG currently has no other material 

commitments to disclose.

14 Contingent Assets & Liabilities 

Contingent assets and liabilities are not recognised in the Statement 

of Financial Position due to uncertainty regarding the amount or 

timing of the underlying claim or obligation. The RTBG currently has 

no contingent assets or liabilities. 
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15 Economic Dependency 

The Royal Tasmanian Botanical Gardens derives its revenue 

prinicipally from Government funding.   

16 Events Occurring After Balance Date 

There have been no significant events subsequent to balance date 

which would materially alter the financial results shown in these 

financial statements.  

17 Cash Flow Information

Reconciliations of Cash Flows from 

Ordinary Activities 

Operations with Operating Result 

Net operating balance  (224,791)  323,735 

Non Cash Flows in Operating Surplus 

Depreciation  302,523  303,125 

Changes in Assets and Liabilities 

(Increase)/Decrease in Receivables  32,750  50,705 

(Increase)/Decrease in Inventories  40,329  (15,654)

Movement in Provisions  (135,770)  74,374 

Increase/(Decrease) in Creditors & 

Accruals 
 (118,063)  18,834 

Net Cash provided by Operating 

Activities 
 (103,022)  755,119 

18 Financial Instruments

Risk management policies

The RTBG has exposure to the following risks from its use of 

financial instruments: 

•   credit risk; 

•   liquidity risk; and 

•   market risk. 

The Director has overall responsibility for the establishment 

and oversight of the RTBG’s risk management framework. Risk 

management policies are established to identify and analyse risks 

faced by the RTBG, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and 

to monitor risks and adherence to limits.

(i) Credit risk exposures

Credit risk is the financial loss to the RTBG if a customer or 

counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet is contractual 

obligations. The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the 

Financial Statements, net of any allowances for losses, represents 

the RTBG’s maximum exposure to credit risk without taking into 

account of any collateral or other security.

There has been no change to credit risk policy since the previous 

reporting period. 

Based on historic payment behaviour and analysis of the underlying 

customers’ credit ratings the RTBG currently believes that all debts 

due and payable at reporting date will be received, therefore no 

provision has been made for impairment.

The RTBG undertakes credit transactions with a large number of 

customers thereby avoiding the credit risk. 

(ii) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the RTBG will not be able to meet 

its financial obligations as they fall due. The RTBG’s approach to 

managing liquidity is to ensure that it will always have sufficient 

liquidity to meet its liabilities when they fall due.

Financial liabilities comprising accounts payable amounting to 

$78,601 (2013: $58,454), as disclosed in the balance sheet, all 

have a maturity period of less than 1 year.

The RTBG, analyses its liquidity requirements daily via 

reconciliation of its operating bank account and analysis of 

upcoming accounts payable transactions.

The RTBG expects that all payables accrued as at 30th June 2015 

will be paid within 30 days.   

(iii)  Market Risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a 

financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market 

prices. The primary market risk that the RTBG is exposed to is 

interest rate risk. 

There has been no change to policies in relation to market risk 

since the previous reporting period.

At the reporting date, the interest rate profile of the RTBG’s 

interest bearing financial instruments was:   

2015 

$

2014 

$

Variable rate instruments 

Assets 

Cash  841,700  1,274,167 

Total  841,700  1,274,167 

Changes in the variable rates of 100 basis points at reporting date 

would have the following effect on the RTBG’s profit or loss and 

equity: 
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Sensitivity analysis of the RTBG’s exposure to possible changes in interest rates.

 Profit or Loss  Equity 

 100 Basis Point 

increase 

 100 Basis Point 

decrease 

 100 Basis Point 

increase 

 100 Basis Point 

decrease 

 $  $  $  $ 

 30 June 2015 

 Cash  8,417  (8,417)  8,417  (8,417)

 Net sensitivity  8,417  (8,417)  8,417  (8,417)

 30 June 2014 

 Cash  12,742  (12,742)  12,742  (12,742)

 Net sensitivity  12,742  (12,742)  12,742  (12,742)

All financial assets are unsecured.

The carrying amounts of financial assets included in the statement of financial position represent the RTBG’s 

maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to these assets.  Where the RTBG has a right of set-off and intends 

to settle on a net basis, this set off has been reflected in the financial statements in accordance with accounting 

standards.

Net Fair Values

The net fair values for financial assets and liabilities approximates their carrying value. Financial assets consist of 

Cash and Trade and Other Receivables. Financial liabilities consist of Trade and other Payables.

19 Reserves

 Property & Infrastructure  Total 

2015  $  $ 

Asset Revaluation Reserve

Balance at 1 July 2014  10,236,981  10,236,981 

Revaluation Increments  658,275  658,275 

Balance at 30 June 2015  10,895,256  10,895,256 

2014

Asset Revaluation Reserve

Balance at 1 July 2013  11,863,462  11,863,462 

Revaluation Increments/(Decrements)  (1,626,481)  (1,626,481)

Balance at 30 June 2014  10,236,981  10,236,981 
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20 Changes to reporting format

From 2015 the RTBG financial statements in a new format to include the 2015 budget in accordance with AASB 1055. The 

previous format is presented below to allow for comparison between the 2014 and 2015 financial statements. 

(a) Statement of comprehensive income

 2015  2014

Note  $  $ 

REVENUES  

STATE GOVERNMENT GRANTS 

Recurrent  2,726,000  2,704,000 

Other Grants - 24 Carrot School Gardens Project  -  153,456 

Separation Payments Reimbursements  164,004  - 

 2,890,004  2,857,456 

OTHER GRANTS 

Hobart City Council  10,909  10,619 

Inspiring Australia Grant  -  24,960 

BGANZ Grant  -  1,000 

Azorella Research Project  100  - 

Hermon Slade Foundation Orchid Research  26,000  26,000 

DEEWR Employability Skills Project  -  1,500 

Dept Employment - Agrifood Skills Sets Project  -  2,500 

ASBP Field Work Grant  -  10,200 

AOF Orchid Project  14,200  11,700 

Feeding the Future  -  45,455 

 51,209  133,934 

RTBG GENERATED INCOME 

Botanical Shop Sales  327,131  314,396 

Restaurant Sales  128,679  889,130 

Interest  25,055  81,202 

Reimbursements  12,709  28,088 

Theatre  8,009  7,968 

Donations/Sponsorship  94,745  89,076 

Project Donations & Bequests  69,100  242,780 

24 Carrot School Gardens Project Donations  108,750  191,000 

Mixed Border Project  418  2,586 

Venue Hire, Education, Site Hire, Minor Sales  120,673  121,896 

Gain on Sale of Assets  -  - 

Spring Festival  39,707  34,715 

Sustainability Festival  -  24,540 

Consultancy Work  41,059  135,697 

Friends of The Gardens Sales & Reimbursements   40,588  45,009 

 1,016,623  2,208,083 

 TOTAL REVENUE   3,957,836  5,199,473 
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 2015  2014

Note  $  $ 

EXPENSES 2015 2014

Botanical Shop Expenses & Cost of Goods Sold  $  $ 

Restaurant Expenses & Cost of Goods Sold  305,858  281,759 

Collections & Research  86,534  981,845 

Public Programs & Operations  1,503,622  1,499,702 

Interpretation Expenses  639,748  635,810 

Marketing & Events  2,200  43 

Education  164,966  177,502 

Business Operations  106,771  108,761 

Depreciation  578,155  609,668 

Friends of the Gardens Reimbursements & Purchases   302,523  303,125 

Other Projects Supported by Industry  35,432  39,416 

Arbor Consultanies  441,798  143,872 

 15,020  94,235 

TOTAL EXPENSES   4,182,627  4,875,738 

SURPLUS/(DEFICIT)  (224,791)  323,735 

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss  -  - 

Changes in Asset Revaluation Reserve  658,275  (1,626,481)

 OMPREHENSIVE RESULT  433,484  (1,302,746)

(b) Statement of financial position

CURRENT ASSETS 

Cash and Cash Equivalents  10  841,700  1,274,167 

Trade and Other Receivables  4  16,729  49,742 

Inventories  5  71,429  111,495 

 929,858  1,435,404 

NON-CURRENT ASSETS 

Property, Infrastructure & Equipment  7  10,683,363  9,998,166 

 10,683,363  9,998,166 

TOTAL ASSETS  11,613,221  11,433,570 
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 2015  2014

Note  $  $ 

CURRENT LIABILITIES 

Trade and Other Payables  8  84,226  202,289 

Provisions  9  231,965  456,344 

 316,191  658,633 

NON - CURRENT LIABILITIES 

Provisions  9  281,248  192,639 

TOTAL LIABILITIES  597,439  851,272 

NET ASSETS  11,015,782  10,582,298 

Represented by:

EQUITY 

Retained Profits  120,526  345,317 

Reserves  19  10,895,256  10,236,981 

TOTAL EQUITY  11,015,782  10,582,298 

(c) Statement of cash flows

Cash Flow from Operating Activities 

Grants received  3,235,334  3,019,878 

Donations received  94,745  522,856 

Receipts from sales  1,022,530  1,947,876 

Payments to suppliers and employees  (4,480,949)  (4,816,194)

Interest received  25,318  80,703 

Net cash from/(used by) operating activities  17  (103,022)  755,119 

Cash Flow from Investing Activities 

Payments for non current assets  (329,445)  (198,252)

Net cash used by investing activities  (329,445)  (198,252)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held  (432,467)  556,867 

Cash at the beginning of the financial year  1,274,167  717,300 

Cash at the end of the financial year  10  841,700  1,274,167 

21 Explanations for Material Variances Between Budget and Actual Outcomes 
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The following are brief explanations of material variances between Budget estimates and actual outcomes. 

Variances are considered material where the variance exceeds the greater of 10 per cent of Budget estimate and 

$100,000.

Budget Actual Variance Variance Note

$ $ $ %

Revenue and other income from transactions

Grants  2,726,000  2,726,000  -   0%

Sales of goods and services  1,505,000  705,846  799,154 113%  (a) 

Interest  75,000  25,055  49,945 199%

Other Revenue  295,000  500,935  (205,935) -41%  (b) 

Expenses from transactions

Employee Benefits  2,989,000  2,349,531  639,469 27%  (C) 

Depreciation and amortisation  429,000  302,523  126,477 42%  (d) 

Supplies and consumables  1,398,000  1,530,573  (132,573) -9%

Other econimic flows included in net result

Net gain/(loss) on non-financial assets  10,000  -    10,000 100%

Changes in Asset Revaluation Reserve  -    658,275  (658,275) -100%  (e) 

Financial Assets

Cash and Deposits  1,007,000  841,700  165,300 20%  (f) 

Receivables  99,000  16,729  82,271 492%

Non-financial Assets

Inventories  117,000  71,429  45,571 64%

Property, infrastructure and equipment  10,966,000  10,683,363  282,637 3%

Liabilities

Payables  152,000  84,226  67,774 80%

Employee benefits  422,000  513,213  (91,213) -18%

Other liabilities  51,000  -    51,000 100%

Equity

Reserves  11,863,000  10,895,256  967,744 9%

Accumulated funds  (299,000)  120,526  (419,526) -348%  (g) 

Cash Flow from Operating Activities
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Budget Actual Variance Variance Note

$ $ $ %

Grants  2,726,000  2,941,213  (215,213) -7%

Sales of goods and services  1,503,000  738,596  764,404 103%  (a) 

GST receipts  150,000  125,020  24,980 20%

Interest received  75,000  25,318  49,682 196%

Other cash receipts  303,000  285,722  17,278 6%

Employee benefits  (2,989,000)  (2,513,643)  (475,357) 19%  (C) 

GST payments  (142,000)  (171,749)  29,749 -17%

Supplies and Consumables  (1,396,000)  (1,533,499)  137,499 -9%

Cash Flow from Investing Activities

Payments for acquisition of non-financial assets  (55,000)  (329,445)  274,445 -83%  (h) 

Proceeds from the disposal of non-financial assets  15,000  -    15,000 100%

Explanations for variances between 2015 budget and 2015 actuals  

(a)  The decrease in sales of goods and services is due to; 1. the change from internal RTBG operation of the kiosk, 

restaurant and catering services to a private operator  and 2. the  the kiosk, restaurant and catering services 

being closed for 4 months whilst undergoing renovation work. 

(b)   The increase in other revenue is due to receiving a reimbursement for payout of leave liabilities of two 

terminating employees 

(c)   The decrease in employee benefits reflects the impact of the 2014-15 budget savings strategies and the 

change from internal RTBG operation of the kiosk, restaurant and catering services to a private operator. 

(d)  The decrease in depreciation and amortisation is due to a revaluation of infrastructure as at 30 June 2014. 

(e)   The revaluation increment was due to the net revaluation increment of property and infrastructure at 30 

June 2015. 

(f)   The decrease in cash and deposits reflects expenditure for essential buildings and infrastructure maintenance 

including the renovation of the kitchen, restaurant and kiosk. 

(g) Budget figures were estimated prior to the 2014 actuals and have since been revised upwards.

(h)  The increase in payments for acquisition of non-financial assets were largely due to $215,958 capitalisation of 

kitchen renovations and $57,187 capitalisation of solar panels.

22 Additional Information

The principal place of business for the Royal Tasmanian Botanical Gardens is located at Queens Domain, Hobart, 

Tasmania.
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